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Welcome To 
Homes North

Community Housing is a growing industry with the potential to offer private investors secure returns.

Community Housing is a people 
focussed sector that aims to positively 
impact residents and community as 
a whole. The sector at its core does 
this by providing high quality rental 
housing for people on low to moderate 
incomes. Notably though, recent years 
have seen a widening of the scope of 
services NSW Community Housing 
Providers offer.
Many NSW providers, in particular, play a 
greater role in the wider housing market, 
often providing a broad range of housing 
solutions, including helping people live in the 
private rental market.

Community Housing Providers are more 
than ever working with a greater number 
of the most disadvantaged members of our 
community who face economic and social 
marginalisation.  More and more our clients 
require the support of a range of services 
to sustain their tenancies. Building and 
maintaining strong productive partnerships 
with agencies that provide these services 
is essential.

During 2018/2019, under the strategic plan 
Future Directions for Social Housing in 
NSW, the Department of Communities and 
Justice (DCJ) transferred the management 
of 14,000 social housing tenancies from 
Government management across to nine 
Community Housing Providers. Prior to 
this ambitious transfer programme 19% 
of Social Housing properties across NSW 
were managed by Community Housing 
Providers. Post completion of the transfer 
programme this has increased to 32%. 

• Letting our Tenants guide us into the future 
• Service excellence: More than just houses
• Supporting our staff to make a difference
• Developing a dynamic range of housing solutions
• Operational excellence

OUR
DRIVE

The initiative also included the transfer of 
the delivery of private rental assistance 
products and services in identified 
locations, which include a range of 
subsidies targeted at supporting eligible 
clients sustain a tenancy in the private 
market. The addition of these options 
means a greater capacity to cater for 
individual housing needs and a great 
opportunity to design local service delivery 
to meet community needs.



OUR VISION
HOMES FOR THE WELLBEING OF OUR COMMUNITY. 
Every community member on low to moderate income in the New 
England North West region has a secure place to call home, and 
which they can independently sustain into the foreseeable future.

OUR VALUES
COMMUNICATE: WE WILL COMMUNICATE IN A POSITIVE, CLEAR AND CONCISE MANNER 
USING THE APPROPRIATE METHOD AND TONE, LISTENING WITHOUT JUDGEMENT.

GOOD FAITH: WE WILL ACT WITH GOOD FAITH; CONSCIOUSLY CHOOSING TO BELIEVE THAT 
PEOPLE ARE ACTING WITH GOOD INTENT, GIVING THEM THE OPPORTUNITY TO CLARIFY ANY 
MISUNDERSTANDINGS.

RESPONSIBILITY: WE WILL TAKE RESPONSIBILITY AND OWNERSHIP OF OUR OWN 
BEHAVIOUR AND ACTIONS.

INTEGRITY: WE WILL WORK ETHICALLY AND WITH INTEGRITY; CONDUCTING OURSELVES 
PROFESSIONALLY, MAINTAINING CONFIDENTIALITY AND ALWAYS BEING HONEST.

SUPPORTIVE: WE WILL BE SUPPORTIVE AND WORK AS A TEAM; SHOWING 
UNDERSTANDING TO ONE ANOTHER AND PROVIDING ENCOURAGEMENT.

RESPECT: WE WILL SHOW RESPECT AT ALL TIMES; VALUING OUR DIFFERENCES AND 
TREATING PEOPLE HOW WE WANT TO BE TREATED.
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OUR COMPANY  
OBJECTIVES

OUR MISSION
• To work with individuals 

and the community across 
a promotion to prevention 
continuum that focuses 
on building strengths and 
reducing vulnerabilities

• To take a long term and 
intergenerational outlook to 
positively change cycles of 
disadvantage, exclusion and 
isolation

• To provide a secure home 
that takes into account the 
physical, social and economic 
environment

• To ensure true security is 
achieved for individuals 
when there is a harmony and 
resilience existing across each 
of these dimensions

• Create secure, affordable and sensitively managed housing 
opportunities for low income households, regardless of 
race, creed, colour, gender or sexual orientation. 

• Encourage the support of all levels of government for the 
development and expansion of Community based non-profit 
housing programmes. 

• Take up equity in properties wherever possible. 

• Identify unused publicly owned properties and bring these 
under the Company’s management where appropriate. 

• Work for the prevention of the further loss of 
accommodation for low income earners and the associated 
escalation in accommodation costs which is causing 
dispossession and displacement of these people. 

• Raise public awareness and understanding of the social 
contexts within which people become homeless or poorly 
housed.

• Encourage the involvement of tenants in the management 
of their own housing. 

• Focus on the housing needs of those population groups 
discriminated against in the private rental market and/ or 
excluded from other public housing programmes. 

• Inform assist and co-operate with other organisations 
and with all levels of government concerned with housing 
issues. 

• Liaise with and complement existing housing provision and 
housing support services. 

Strive for: 
a just and equitable distribution of, and access to, housing 
resources in NSW; 

community and consumer involvement participation and 
representation in planning and implementing housing 
policies; 

an integrated approach to housing and human settlement 
including consideration of necessary facilities, amenities, 
opportunities and community supports.

1986 Armidale Community 
Tenancy Scheme managed 

a programme to house 
youth, who at the time 
were not eligible to be 

housed in public housing.

1998 Armidale 
Community Tenancy 
Scheme merged with 
Gunnedah Community 

Tenancy Scheme to 
become Homes North 
Community Housing

2006 Homes North 
merged with Glen Innes 
Accommodation Service

2007-2009 Homes North took on the management of most 
public housing dwellings in Gunnedah, Glen Innes and 

Tenterfield through a ‘whole of town’ transfer programme.

80
200

459

659

5
1986



OUR 
HISTORY  
OF GROWTH

OUR COMPANY  
OBJECTIVES

2010-2011 Homes North was awarded the 
management of new social housing dwellings being 
constructed in the New England through the Nation 

Building Economic Stimulus Programme (NBESP)

2014 Homes North 
merged with Inverell 
Community Housing.

Social Housing Management Transfer for 
New England North West region for the 
transfer of approximately 1700 tenancies 

successfully completed 6 May 2019.

671

848

1,021 1,037

2,735
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OUR PORTFOLIO
As at 30 October 2019 Homes North managed 2,735 properties across the New England North West 
region under a range of programmes. Much of Homes North’s portfolio are head lease contracts to 
manage Land and Housing Corporation properties for the purpose of Social Housing.

The portfolio can be broken down under the following programme areas:

2,069 Capital Properties: (this includes Social Housing 
Management Transfer properties operating under a 
20 year lease contract with the NSW Government.) 
The capital programme allows Community Housing 
providers to lease Land and Housing Corporation owned 
properties, and sublet to eligible clients. Homes North 
collects all rents and pays all expenses associated with 
the properties and is responsible for all aspects of long 
term asset maintenance planning

250 Stimulus Properties:  
These are properties where title was transferred from 
Land and Housing Corporation to Homes North for the 
express purpose of providing Homes North with the 
capacity to leverage against the transferred assets to 
procure additional social housing. Caveats on title ensure 
these properties are used for the purpose of Social 
Housing

260 Leasehold Properties: 
The leasehold programme provides a subsidy for Homes 
North to rent in the private market and then sublet to a 
low income household at a reduced rent. 
 

69 Fee for Service Properties: Homes North has 
contracts where it provides tenancy and property 
management services on a fee-for-service basis. This arm is 
managed separately from our Community Housing portfolio 
and caters to the client organisations. These services 
are only provided to organisations providing social and 
affordable housing, and include: Aboriginal Housing Office 
(Employment Related Accommodation), Eekinar Aboriginal 
Housing, and Armidale Local Aboriginal Land Council 
properties.

30 Homes North Freehold Properties: These are 
properties that are owned by Homes North which have 
either been acquired or developed by leveraging assets 
transferred via the Stimulus programme. The properties are 
let to households on low to moderate incomes, who pay 
rent at 20% less than the market rate so that they are also 
able to meet other basic costs of living without experiencing 
‘rental stress’ (If you are in rental stress you are paying more 
than 30% of your income on rent).

A KEY ROLE PLAYED BY COMMUNITY HOUSING IS ASSISTING COMMUNITY MEMBERS WHO OTHERWISE COULDN’T SUSTAIN A TENANCY. 



2 , 7 3 5  p r o p e r t i e s  a c r o s s  t h e  N e w  E n g l a n d  N o r t h  W e s t  r e g i o n

Homes North covers the New England North West region, 
with offices located in Armidale, Glen Innes, Gunnedah, 

Inverell, Moree and Tamworth.

OUR REGION

TAMWORTH

ARMIDALE

SYDNEY
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Tamworth
358 Properties in 2018: Total for 2019 - 1116

Armidale
244 Properties in 2018: Total for 2019 - 1086

Moree
52 Properties in 2018: Total for 2019 - 241

Inverell
37 Properties in 2018: Total for 2019 - 208

Gunnedah
170 Properties in 2018: Total for 2019 - 174

NarRabri
0 Properties in 2018: Total for 2019 - 134

glen Innes
111 Properties in 2018: Total for 2019 - 106

Tenterfield
46 Properties in 2018: Total for 2019 - 46

WEE WAA
0 Properties in 2018: Total for 2019 - 27

Walcha
0 Properties in 2018: Total for 2019 - 20

Quirindi
0 Properties in 2018: Total for 2019 - 19

Uralla
1 PropertY in 2018: Total for 2019 - 11

Guyra
0 Properties in 2018: Total for 2019 - 9

Werris Creek
0 Properties in 2018: Total for 2019 - 8

BOGGABILLA
0 Properties in 2018: Total for 2019 - 4

Lightning Ridge 
3 Properties in 2018: Total for 2019 - 3

barraba
0 Properties in 2018: Total for 2019 - 2

barraba
0 Properties in 2018: Total for 2019 - 2

Coonamble
0 Properties in 2018: Total for 2019 - 1



Chairperson's
Report

Chairperson

This past year has been one of unprecedented change and growth for our organisation.
In May 2019, Homes North Community 
Housing more than doubled in size 
following the transfer of almost 1700 
Social Housing properties from Land and 
Housing Corporation.  We welcomed 
new staff, relocated and opened new 
offices, implemented new financial and 
housing systems and introduced a suite 
of new services to assist people who are 
homeless and people accessing the private 
rental market.

On behalf of the Board, I want to thank our 
amazing staff who were presented with 
many challenges throughout the year but 
worked tirelessly to ensure that the transfer 
process was as seamless as possible for 
our new tenants and clients.  I also wish 
to thank our Project Managers – Anne 
Rix, Annie McCabe and David Buckley 
and Senior Staff for their dedication to 
the project, and acknowledge that their 
expertise and planning skills played a 
major role in the success of the transfer.  
The Transformation Committee comprised 
our Project Managers, representatives from 
the Board and Executive staff who met 
monthly to plan and discuss every facet 
of the transition. The committee focussed 
on communications with transitioning 
tenants, careful monitoring of expenditure, 
recruitment and the implementation of 
new systems to support our transformed 
organisation. 

In the coming year, Homes North still 
has some work to do to consolidate our 
position in terms of financial and human 
resources and asset management.  
However, we won’t be overlooking 
opportunities that may arise that align with 
key government or our strategic objectives, 
particularly around homelessness and 
housing services to Aboriginal community 
members. 

The Board recognises that 44% of our 
tenancies identify as Aboriginal and is 
seeking a new Director who identifies as 
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander 
and can advise us on the cultural 
appropriateness of Homes North’s policies 
and practice.

To enable and assist decision making 
within a strong governance framework, 
our Board members and senior staff have 
participated in a series of Risk Appetite 
Workshops throughout the year conducted 
by our Risk and Compliance Manager.  
These workshops facilitated discussion 
around the risks and opportunities 
associated with each of our key strategic 
pillars, and helped to guide us towards 
agreement on the risks that we are willing 
to take and not take in pursuing our key 
objectives.

We were privileged to host Neil Quarmby, 
NSW Registrar of Community Housing and 
two members of his team for two days in 
July.  The visit was timely as it coincided 
with the review of the National Regulatory 
System for Community Housing (NRSCH) 
and the role of regulation in the sector.  
Neil and his team attended a Risk Appetite 
Workshop and also spoke to the Board 
about the role of the Registrar – describing 
it as an intelligence gathering function 
to provide advice on current and best 
practice to Community Housing Providers.  
His visit confirmed the importance of 
regulation in the Community Housing 
sector and that our organisations share 
a common goal in striving for better 
outcomes for tenants.

As a result of the Social Housing 
Management Transfer and our 
increased size and capacity, Homes 
North is now better positioned 
to respond and take advantage 
of increased opportunities 
for innovative development, 
diversification, better service 
delivery and responding to changing 
community needs.  As with all things 
the Board remains focussed on our 
Points of Culture and ensuring the 
highest of standards across the 
organisation.

Jane Michie



Following the transfer of almost 1700 Social Housing properties from Land and Housing Corporation.

“Homes North is now better positioned to take 
advantage of increased opportunities for innovative 
development, diversification, service delivery and 

responding to changing community needs”

Jane Michie - Chairperson

IN MAY 2019, 
HOMES NORTH COMMUNITY HOUSING 
MORE THAN DOUBLED IN SIZE!

x2+
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Chief Executive Officer’s 

Report
We have more than doubled in size and 
expanded our service offerings. Most 
importantly, we have a greater capacity 
now to be a positive force for change in 
the communities we serve. 

The vehicle for this opportunity has 
been the Social Housing Management 
Transfer Programme – a key component 
of the NSW Government Strategic Plan 
‘Future Directions’. The programme 
saw approximately 14,000 tenancies 
transfer from direct government service 
delivery to the Community Housing 
sector. In addition, the delivery of 
housing assistance products to reduce 
homelessness and assist people into the 
private rental transferred to Community 
Housing Providers. 

The transfer of Government-managed 
tenancies and services to Homes North 
was particularly challenging given the 
demographics of the New England North 
West region. The transfers occurred 
across eight Local Government Areas. We 
were at a considerable advantage having 
an established presence across the 
transfer footprint, however, the logistics 
of having expanded capacity and facilities 
available on the one day of the transfer 
required significant planning. Transfer of 
business and service transactions from 
a state-wide service delivery structure 
to another entity is also a detailed and 
complex transition project. 

Chief Executive Officer 

Maree McKenzie

I am very pleased to report on a 
remarkable transformation. There is still 
so much to be done, however, the first 
milestone of opening the doors on 6 May 
2019 to thousands more people in need, 
and deliver a great service was achieved. 
I am so impressed by staff who took the 
challenge on with gusto and championed 
our Points of Culture - the key to our 
success and foundation of Homes North.

2018-2019 has been a truly transformative year for Homes North. 



“The first milestone of opening the doors on 
6 May 2019 to thousands more people in need, 

and deliver a great service was achieved.” 
Maree McKensie- CEO 
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What does it mean to transform an organisation?

SOCIAL HOUSING 
MANAGEMENT 
TRANSFER



Tender and Go Live 
preparation for the 
transformation of 
Homes North 

‘Back Story’
In October 2017 the then State Minister for Family and Community Services 
announced Homes North was successful in our bid to manage all general Social 
Housing in the New England North West region.

The Social Housing Management Transfer is an initiative of the NSW Government. 
In nine select areas of NSW nine housing providers would take management 
responsibilities for all public housing, in addition to other housing services.

The transfers would be staged by location and be completed between October 
2018 and September 2019. On completion approximately 14,000 tenancies (and 
allied housing services) would be transferred from Government management to 
provider management.

For our region the tenancies and other service delivery would transfer from 
Government to Homes North on 6 May 2019. 

Throughout 2018 and early 2019 Homes North put into action a range of transition 
plans, teams and governance structures to ensure a successful transfer of 
business. We committed considerable resources to ensuring continuity of services 
for communities in the New England North West.

Homes North Transformation Committee: Marie Augustin, Jane Michie, Neil Scholes-Robertson, Ken Bone, Anne Rix, Annie McCabe, David Buckley

SOCIAL HOUSING 
MANAGEMENT 
TRANSFER
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What is the significance of the Social 
Housing Management Transfer?
It is the largest Social Housing transfer 
programme to occur to date in Australia. 
It has set a precedent that large scale 
transfers can work successfully.

To date the community response has 
been overwhelmingly positive. This 
shows that mandatory transfers can be 
achieved and offer a positive tenant 
experience.

The transformation is helping to change 
how our community views Social 
Housing. This change is now within our 
reach because of the long term nature of 
the transfer, which is a 20 year contract.

The opportunities for the Community 
Housing sector are to:
• Undermine the current stigma of 

Social Housing and transform it to a 
more positive one

• Grow to a size where organisations 
can expand their sphere of influence 
for positive change

• Stay focussed on clients
• Develop stronger and more 

productive local engagement
• Seek options for a wide range of 

housing solutions to meet a range of 
local demands

You say it is the transformation of 
Homes North. Why is that?
The size of the transfer ….. and that it 
happened on one day. Overnight, the 
composition of our organisation, and our 
local impact, changed from being a small 
to a mid-sized player.

Taking on a large chunk of local service 
delivery, previously managed by State 
Government, is a major project.  It also 
brings with it important responsibilities 
- ensuring equity of services, and 
accountability to Government and 
community for the standard of service 
delivery. 

Our sphere of influence and responsibility 
has grown and needs to be matched with 
the necessary governance and oversight. 
This influence also allows us to create a 
new perception of Social Housing.

As a larger organisation we now 
have a greater capacity to specialise 
and centralise administration. Our 
housing officers, now called Client 
Relations Officers, are concentrating on 
relationships with their tenants, with a 
more targeted focus on helping tenants 
sustain their tenancies.

What was the biggest obstacle Homes 
North needed to overcome?
The requirement to transfer all tenants to 
Homes North from Family and Community 
Services in only one day was the biggest 
challenge. There was a large scope 
of transactional details to have right in 
one day. Our key strategic aim was to 
retain Homes North’s culture and focus 
on clients, and with so many details to 
manage, this was a balancing act. 

Another area that was important for 
Homes North to get right was the correct 
number of staff to manage the new 
tenancies, and more crucially, to have 
staff who best fit with our organisation’s 
culture. This took careful assessment and 
many conversations.

There was a considerable amount of work 
going on behind the scenes developing 
detailed plans to manage comprehensive 
change across the organisation - regular 
communications, IT development and 
management, and of course, always with 
a focus on Homes North’s culture. 

It was also important to ensure the 
wellbeing of existing staff who had to 
continue to manage our existing portfolio 
while the transfer was underway.

Managing 
Transformation 

YEAR OF TRANSFORMATION  - SOCIAL HOUSING MANAGEMENT TRANSFER

WITH CEO MAREE MCKENZIE 



How does Homes North keep its values 
and tenant satisfaction rating with the 
transfer tenants?
This again will be challenging, as we 
have to manage tenants’ expectations to 
2021 as Family and Community Services 
and Land and Housing Corporation are 
managing repairs and maintenance until 
that time. 

All surveys show that maintenance is 
valued above all services by our tenants. 
So, until 2021, our focus is on being 
advocates for our tenants with matters 
concerning maintenance. 

To help us manage this we are scheduling 
home visits to develop relationships with 
all of our new tenants. We are also linking 
tenants facing problems in their lives to 
support services, and engaging them in 
tenant groups and community initiatives. 

What opportunities does the Social 
Housing Management Transfer offer 
Homes North? 
The importance of the 20 year contract 
with Family and Community Services 
is that it brings opportunities to work 
on intergenerational change, and to 
plan and deliver the foundations for 
this change in a careful and meaningful 
way. 

We can facilitate long-term community 
engagement and healing. We can 
deliver locally designed developments. 

Under the contract Homes North has 
expanded our services to include 
homelessness responses. We can now 
work more holistically with people 
- map with them their journey from 
homelessness to stable housing in 
either Social Housing or private rental, 
and maybe even beyond to home 
ownership one day. 

How do you ensure you keep to Homes North 
values during this time?
Homes North identified early on in the planning 
for the transfer that maintaining our values 
throughout this tumultuous change would be 
crucial to our success.

There was a focus at general staff meetings, 
team meetings and across all areas of the 
organisation to remember our Points of 
Culture. We also encouraged staff to think 
about their team members and how they are 
managing their workloads. We encouraged 
people to be thoughtful and to watch out for 
times when things may seem overwhelming. 

What is the best story you have about the 
transfer?
No doubt the positive response from tenants 
as we greet them at reception, knock on their 
doors or see them in the street. 

It’s also a great feeling opening doors to 
a whole range of opportunities to deliver 
services differently, including partnering with 
local councils, local services, volunteer groups, 
services clubs and Aboriginal Organisations to 
deliver a great service. 
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The team put together, with the help of some of our residents, a welcome sign up pack. This had information for tenants 
on the transactional requirements of the transfer, the documents they needed to sign, information about the transfer and 
what it meant for tenants in terms of their rent and other payments, and what they could expect from Homes North from 
the first day and into the future.

Pre-transfer preparations  
& Operations Planning

To welcome our new tenants we provided a fridge magnet with repair and maintenance phone numbers 
plus a range of emergency contact numbers to have on hand if and when needed.

Tenancy transfers with Homes North

Your tenancy agreement stays the same when you  

move across to Homes North. You only have to sign a  

few forms and all is completed. Find out more online:  

homesnorth.org.
au/housingt

ransfer

June 2019

First Resident  
Engagement Group  meetings for new Homes 

North tenants.

May 2019
FACS Housing tenants  transfer to Homes North.

October 2017
Homes North wins the FACS Housing transfer for New  

England North West.

January 2019
Time to meet our tenants.FACS Housing and Homes North drop in sessions.

Find out more online: homesnorth.org.au/housingtransfer

To FACS Housing tenants in ... 

Summit is managing your tenancy on behalf of 

Homes North Community Housing

From Monday May 6, 2019 

your tenancy will be managed by ...

Tenant Reminder: Transfer coming up

We welcome all our 

new tenants and are 
looking forward 
to meeting and 

working with you.

If you have any questions after you transfer on May 6 
Summit: 2/116 Barwan St, Narrabri

Ph: 6792 1478

You will need to:
• Pay your rent to Homes North

• Pay your water usage bill to Homes North

• Contact Summit if you have any questions about your tenancy

• Continue to contact the FACS Maintenance Line 1800 422 322

We will work with you to:
• support you in looking after your home

• best support your needs

Narrabri andWee Waa

We also developed a Frequently Asked Questions page with the help of our tenancy teams and some of our tenants..



As an incentive for tenants to 
get their paper work in early, 
Homes North offered tenants 
a chance to win a $100 Coles 
voucher every week for ten 
weeks. This was promoted 

across our social media and 
proved very popular.

We also developed a Frequently Asked Questions page with the help of our tenancy teams and some of our tenants..

“Since moving back to Armidale and moving into my unit 
I have enjoyed the communication with the staff at Homes 
North. I am also enjoying the contact with people here and 

the forming of a resident group.”

Anonymous quote from our Tenant Survey 
{ {
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Pop-up BBQs
There were pop up BBQs for our tenants in all the transfer 
towns: Armidale, Moree, Narrabri, Wee Waa, Tamworth and 
Inverell. This was a chance for Homes North staff to meet 
with our new tenants, to say hello and help with any transfer 
documents. Our Resident Engagement Officers, Joy and Byron 
were there to talk about our resident engagement groups and 
encourage them to join in.

Door Knocks 
The tenancy teams worked very hard on the door knocks. There 
was a long campaign of planning and walking the streets to get 
signed forms from our new tenants.

Pre-transfer preparations  
& Operations Planning

Door knock survey and Job Clubs
Homes North took the opportunity to ask our tenants 
about their interest in training and employment in the 
future. The results were encouraging and this information 
is now with our Employment Officer Byron, who is planning 
great ways to help these tenants, including support 
through tenant job clubs. 

New office locations
The teams in Moree and Tamworth also had to 
prepare for a move into new offices to accommodate 
the increase in staff numbers. Detailed relocation 
plans were developed, and logistics discussed - from 
the physical move, to IT set up, new signs and a fresh 
coat of paint to make the offices welcoming.



YEAR OF TRANSFORMATION  - SOCIAL HOUSING MANAGEMENT TRANSFER

New staff
Homes North has over 50 new staff across all divisions of the organisation.  

New housing software system EMS Basix
A staff working group had established the need for a new 
housing software system prior to our growth. A nationwide 
search was undertaken, and the evaluation of available systems 
put EMS Basix as the main contender for the job. 

The group, supported by management, identified that our risks 
would be managed better by migrating to the new system 
prior to the transfer of tenancies, and more than doubling our 
business. Although this added a substantial amount of work to 
the transformation of Homes North the result has achieved the 
level of certainty and reliability needed. The Working Group 
managed the project and continues to trouble shoot issues, 
prioritise adjustments and options, and looks for enhancements 
that will improve performance into the future

This growth has meant Homes North has:
• An increase in specialist skills to improve work processes 

and provide a better service to our tenants
• Become an employer of choice attracting good calibre 

staff keen to work in the sector and help their community

• Attracted a great diversity of expertise and on the ground 
experience across the organisation in all departments

• The capacity to negiotate across the service sector and 
the wider business community to deliver great services for 
our tenants and communities

“It was hot and hard work,  
but the teams all pulled together 

and got the job done.”
Homes North Client Relations Officer talking about the Door Knocks. the capacity to negiotate
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Prepare, prepare, prepare

Change Management plans
Testing of financial information

Testing of property data



Go Live 
Day 1.
Tamworth had the largest transfer numbers, with a total of over 
1,000 tenancies. Armidale was busy with new Social Housing 
Management Transfer tenants visiting the office to ask about 
their rent, repairs, and rent assistance. 

We also had many new clients come in and say how they were 
looking forward to being with Homes North. They had talked 
with their neighbours and were keen to talk to our staff about 
their tenancies and get to know our more personal approach 
to working with them. 

Moree office was also a new location, with a larger area to 
meet with tenants. The new location has inspired the staff and 
they have done a great job getting to know their new Social 
Housing Management Transfer tenants and dealing with many 
complex issues. The staff has also doubled in one year from 
two to four. 

THE EXCITEMENT OF THE TRANSFER DAY MAY 6, 2019

YEAR OF TRANSFORMATION  - SOCIAL HOUSING MANAGEMENT TRANSFER

“Across the board, the work ethic is strong in Homes North. 

The staff show great compassion and care for the clients.“ 
Luke Fahy, Senior Housing Manager
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What was your main priority?
My chief aim was to try and make the transition as seamless 
as possible for the tenants. This transfer was a stressful 
time for many of our new tenants, particularly around 
understanding rent assistance.  For them it is a different 
approach to calculating their rent and can be complex and 
difficult to understand. So, communicating this information 
clearly was important as it has such a major impact on their 
lives. We worked hard to make sure that our staff and tenants 
understood how their rent is calculated and how they access 
Commonwealth Rent Assistance (CRA).

Recruitment was also an early priority. We had a number of 
contractual requirements including EOI processes with Family 
And Community Services (FACS) staff in mid-2018. We confirmed 
our plans for where we would need staff, and recruited those 
with the right skills and cultural fit for the organisation.

The next priority was to work effectively - developing 
partnerships and relationships with FACS, both locally and with 
head office. There was a considerable amount of transactional 
information to be understood and imported into our databases 
as well as understanding the FACS systems we would be 
working with.

 Next was to collect all the tenant forms needed for the transfer 
– That’s over 6000 forms! We mailed them, ran drop-ins 
and door knocks, we had call back registers and a period of 
intensive follow up in every location.

Over the top of all of this was maintaining the wellbeing of the 
staff. We knew the demands on them - all of the extra work that 
was on top of all of the hard work they already do in the day to 
day running of Homes North. 

The needs of the tenants was another priority - ensuring they 
had all of the tools and information necessary to ensure that 
it was as smooth as possible for them. We supplied them with 
contact numbers, FAQ’s and information leaflets about CRA, 
how to pay their rent and more.

How did you help staff get through Day 1 and then the first week?
Pizza and lollies. Well, that was only part of it.

We prepared thoroughly and had plans for as many contingencies 
as we could. We spoke to Community Housing Providers who had 
already completed the transfer and gained good information from 
their lessons learnt. We worked closely with FACS staff both locally 
and at head office to get good information to help the transition go 
smoothly. 

For the 6 months prior to the transfer we limited staff leave to ensure 
we had all hands on deck and that all staff were across the issues 
and plans. 

We prepared FAQs and response templates about rent assistance 
and maintenance and repairs. 

We ran an enquiry log and followed up on all enquiries. 

Extra staff were put on receptions to manage the larger numbers of 
tenants walking through the doors. 

FACS and Land and Housing Corporation office staff were on 
the ground at larger offices to trouble shoot any repairs and 
maintenance issues. 

The doors to two new offices were opened and the four current 
offices were made ready. 

We had planned for a significant increase in walk-ins and phone 
calls, and as expected that happened, but we managed it well 
because we were so prepared. 

Within about six weeks, staff had settled in and there was a more 
regular and expected flow of tenants visiting the offices. 

All managers regularly touched base with staff to assess how they 
were feeling and if there were ways to assist and provide a better 
service.

We are still constantly reviewing our processes and looking for areas 
of improvement to deliver the best service we can.

Social Housing Management Transfer 
and Operations preparation 

WITH RICHARD INNIS OPERATIONS MANAGER
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What do you think was the best outcome from the transfer?
Considering the number of tenants that we transferred from 
FACS to Homes North, it was as smooth and seamless as 
possible, and our aim to have as little disruption for the tenants 
was achieved overall. 

It has been rewarding to see relationships forming between 
Homes North tenants and staff. This was a significant event for 
both sides, so we have something important in common. 

How are the teams working with so many new people?
We viewed recruitment as being crucial to successfully 
completing the transfer and maintaining tenant satisfaction into 
the future.  We spent a significant amount of time and effort 
into identifying not only the skillsets of applicants but also their 
cultural fit to ensure we were employing staff that have the 
values that Homes North prides itself on. I am delighted with our 
new staff and how they are fitting into their new roles. And not 
to forget, the support from the existing team members for our 
new staff has been overwhelmingly positive. It’s great to see 
that our staff are so welcoming and resilient.

“Everyone was involved and pitched in. It was tough but very rewarding.”

Richard Innis - Operations Manager

What will operations look like in 12 months?
There will be efficient partnerships between Homes North, 
stakeholders and tenants. We are already identifying 
opportunities to provide true wrap around supports for our 
clients to help them maintain their tenancies.

As a mid-sized organisation in the region we will use our social 
capital in innovative ways to develop and improve the lives of our 
tenants, clients and their communities through key partnerships 
and initiatives.

On a personal note how has Social Housing Management 
Transfer been for you?
It has been an incredibly challenging time. I am proud of how 
Homes North staff came together to meet this challenge, no 
matter what was asked of them. Door knocking in 40 degree 
heat and answering the same questions numerous times was 
challenging. However, the frontline staff did such an amazing job 
and were committed to doing their best. Plus the teams behind 
the scenes such as Finance, Assets and IT, Service Improvement 
and Partnerships and our Board of Directors, all contributed and 
helped make the transfer a success. 

Homes North Housing Staff

Homes North Annual Report 2018-2019 23



Tenancy Teams 

Tamworth and 
Gunnedah
What was the biggest issue the Tamworth 
team had to overcome for the Social Housing 
Management Transfer?
Doubling of staff in a short amount of time was 
a challenge, but it has been pretty smooth for 
both old and new staff, considering the massive 
change and all new tenants to meet and get to 
know. 

Learning and understanding the information 
management systems, both internal and FACS, 
was a training challenge. Now we are sitting 
quite comfortably, however there is always room 
for improvements, and that is happening slowly 
but surely.

Getting to know tenants has also been 
challenging due to the sheer numbers. However, 
it has been wonderful as so many are very 
open to change and it has been a very positive 
experience meeting them.

We are still working with tenants explaining the 
Commonwealth Rent Assistance, which they 
didn’t have as FACS tenants, and managing all 
the details and unfinished issues that came with 
the transfer.

JODIE MCNAMARA
SENIOR HOUSING MANAGER NORTH WEST

How are you and the team settling in? 
We are doing well overall and we are working together to help each other find solutions. 
We still have a long way to go to achieve all that we want to achieve for our tenants. 

A big change is the new Housing Options Team and we are working closely with them to 
really understand the private rental products and Temporary Accommodation.  We have 
a much larger volume of tenants coming through the door with queries for help around 
homelessness and it is important we are able to help them with the right assistance. 

Relationships are growing everyday with local support providers which means good 
service for tenants and applicants. 

What is the best thing about the Social Housing Management Transfer?
Social Housing Management Transfer tenants becoming part of the Homes North family, 
giving us opportunities to help a lot more people directly and being able to get into 
the community to plan and bring about changes. For example, working on the waste 
and rubbish project in Coledale, making the community feel safer and reaching out into 
community with offices in Coledale in Tamworth.

It is also a wonderful opportunity for staff to feel part of something that is bringing 
change in their community.

Jodie on a personal note how has Social Housing Management Transfer been for you?
Every day is a new challenge; I can honestly say I never have a dull day. I feel privileged 
to be part of such an important milestone for our organisation and our region.

Tamworth Housing Team

Gunnedah Housing Team



Armidale, Inverell, Glen Innes/
Tenterfield and Moree
What was the biggest issue you and the team had to 
overcome for the Social Housing Management Transfer? 
It was important to keep staff feeling positive, that they were 
prepared for the new work load and would be able to manage it 
with the same focus on client service and Homes North’s values.

How are you and the team settling in?
The staff have a ‘can do’ positive attitude, both the new and 
longer term staff, and that helps make the work go so much 
smoother. They came through because they didn’t worry about 
the changes, they knew they could manage it and they were 
supported to be there for the clients, tenants and each other.

What is the best thing about the Social Housing Management 
Transfer?
There are a number of great things that have happened as a result 
of the Social Housing Management Transfer. One of the best is how 
the community is so strongly behind Homes North. The tenants are 
so happy to be with us and appreciate our friendly, open approach. 
The staff are really committed to helping our clients and tenants 
and the community knows this and appreciates it. It is a big and 
welcome change for many people. 

Another great outcome is that we are now a mid-sized organisation 
in the region and that brings responsibility, and some good 
opportunities. The business sector is keen to work with us on 
projects around the region and this means we continue to be a 
respected organisation and can now play a more significant role in 
developing new opportunities for our communities.

On a personal note I am very pleased we have kept all the 
members of the teams and not lost anyone. They managed the 
transfer workload really well, and we are moving slowly but surely 
into a strong business as usual model. We all spent a considerable 
amount of time and effort preparing for the transfer and this 
preparation work has proved to be the way to go and we continue 
to have strong teams working across our region.

YEAR OF TRANSFORMATION  - SOCIAL HOUSING MANAGEMENT TRANSFER

LUKE FAHY 
SENIOR HOUSING MANAGER NEW ENGLAND

Tamworth 
 had the biggest 

number of properties 
to transfer across  in one location

1,000+

Armidale Housing Team

Glen Innes Housing Team

Moree Housing Team

Inverell Housing Team
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Tenancy Teams 

Housing Options Team
What is Housing Options?
It is a range of housing services that help 
people find and maintain stable and safe 
housing. Sometimes this may be a subsidy 
to live in the private market, or it might be a 
couple of nights accommodation in a safe 
place if the person is escaping Domestic 
Violence.

How did you prepare for the new part of the 
business? 
We employed experienced specialists to 
develop transition project plans, trained up our 
staff and prepared our organisation’s systems 
to ensure that on day 1 of the transfer a 
homeless person coming into one of our offices 
was provided with help and safe options.
Homes North staff worked closely with the 
Family and Community Services to manage the 
transition between the two organisations and 
to gain Government systems knowledge.
On a project level we maintained weekly 
communication with Homes North staff to keep 
them updated about the changes, and started 
a working group of staff to discuss and develop 
processes that would match our values in 
relation to working with vulnerable clients.
We knew how important it was for staff to really 
understand the products we were providing 
to the community, so we developed a training 
schedule for staff to improve their knowledge 
and equip them to use the specific IT related 
to Housing Options. We also offered ongoing 
training and mentoring post go-live which will 
continue as needed.
Some staff were identified as key workers 
in the Housing Options Team and we had 
a number of staff experienced in this area 
transfer across from FACS. New staff continue 
to be recruited as Homes North gains a deeper 
understanding of the demand for delivering a 
holistic and quality service for clients.

Delivering Temporary Accommodation – how did 
you prepare for this and how is it working across 
the region?
Temporary Accommodation (TA) provides a 
safe temporary place for someone who is 
homeless. Our first priority was to ensure we 
had enough staff on day 1 to assist homeless 
clients who presented at each office.  We 
developed a system of support for those 
staff not feeling confident with this suite of 
new services. We established contact and 
relationships with local TA providers, for 
example, a motel or caravan park.
The Housing Options Team has spent 
considerable time improving established 
relationships with Specialist Homelessness 
Service providers so we both provide 
coordinated and effective support for our 
mutual clients.
Now, staff in all office sites are competent and 
confident in the delivery of TA to homeless 
clients. They work hard to give the best service 
possible, to help engage the best support and 
to resolve housing need wherever possible. 
A quasi case management framework is in 
practice and all clients, where they choose to 
engage, have an ongoing relationship with 
Homes North staff.

Homes North now deliver  Private Rental 
products. How is that going?
Homes North began cautiously in this 
specialist delivery area to ascertain the 
needs and ensure our system design met 
our communities’ needs. The workload is 
demanding and while the transfer was very 
successful there is a considerable backlog of 
work to be completed. 
Currently there are three team members 
working specifically on the Start Safely & Youth 
Subsidy programs and, while still addressing a 
backlog, are continuing to provide a fantastic 
service to those escaping Domestic & Family 
Violence, and to Youth who are accepted into 
the Youth program.

ANNIE MCCABE AND JULIE HEMMETT
HOUSING OPTIONS TEAM

“We really just dived in and swam like the clappers”

Annie McCabe - Project Manager Housing Options

Homelessness is now an important part 
of your work. How do you manage the 
applications and assess clients for housing?
Again, the enormity of the inherited work 
was and continues to be an issue and 
the volume of work is constant. However, 
clients with complex needs are attended 
to with dignity and sensitivity across the 
organisation.
Processes have been put in place to 
capture the statistics and staff continue 
to develop their skills and knowledge in 
the assessment, referral and approval 
processes. Staff training continues with 
specific staff nominated as mentors who 
assist staff, particularly in the smaller outer 
offices.

Now that Homes North is delivering all 
these services across the region what 
opportunities does this open up for you?
The most obvious opportunity is to provide 
a high-quality service to clients based 
on their expressed needs as they travel 
through the services provided by HN.
Next would be the further development 
of our community capacity, in partnership 
and collaboration with all community 
stakeholders, Government agencies, Non- 
Government Organisations and others.

On a personal note, how has the Social 
Housing Management Transfer gone for you?
It’s been really challenging at times, 
frustrating at others and then truly fantastic 
as I see, 5 months down the track, the 
morale of staff growing, knowledge and 
skills improving like topsy, and staff talking 
about the great satisfaction of learning 
and delivering services with confidence to 
clients.

It’s a whirlwind ride!
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Summit Community Housing 
Our partnership in Narrabri and Wee Waa

Why is Homes North working with Summit 
Community Housing in Narrabri and Wee Waa?

Homes North invited Summit Community Services to 
partner with Homes North to deliver tenancy services 
on our behalf in the Narrabri Local Government Area. 
Summit Community Services reflects Homes North’s 
values and are committed to supporting sustainable 
service delivery outcomes on the ground.  Homes 
North believes in strategic partnerships that build on 
the existing success of strong local organisations, 
and where possible not duplicating services. Summit 
is a well-regarded local community housing provider 
who has effective networks that ensure clients get the 
best service. Summit Community Services (previously 
known as Narrabri Community Tenancy Scheme Inc) 
has been operating since 1983. 
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Assets
Why do you need a call centre for maintenance?
Asset Responsive Repairs Administrators (ARRA’s) provide a consistent 
response to infrastructure and maintenance across the organisation.

Making sure we had specialist 
staff in these roles to 
understand the requirements 
of each work request was 
imperative, so in order to 
achieve this we employed 
builders.

We were getting backlash from 
contractors about the incorrect 
information that was being 
supplied to them through a lack 
of knowledge, so to mitigate 
this we hired specialist staff. 
The ongoing benefits of this 

are that the contractors are much happier as they are getting the correct 
information which makes the workflow a lot more efficient for our tenants 
through their expertise. 

Streamlining and avoiding duplications of work orders as we have one 
central administration centre to manage them, rather than being spread 
across all offices. 

Asset Teams 
BEN IRELAND

ASSET MANAGER

Assets Team

What are your plans for managing the Social Housing 
Management Transfer properties?
Our aim is to inspect every property within 12-18 months as a 
baseline for maintenance liability.

Manage vacant property turnaround to mitigate rental losses.

Manage the LAHC contract for infrastructure and maintenance. 

What is the biggest outcome you are hoping for with the 
Social Housing Management Transfer?
To improve the condition of our properties

Improve tenant experience of infrastructure and maintenance 
outcomes

Dealing with tenancy and maintenance issues and outstanding 
requests. 

Best part of working in this organisation?
Having the opportunity to improve tenant’s lives into the future.
The potential to change how communities live. 

ARRAs Mick and Matt
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More than just Repairs 
and Maintenance
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Risk and Compliance 
management 
What changes does the Social Housing Management 
Transfer bring for Risk and Compliance management? 
During this exceptional growth period for Homes North 
there must also be a greater focus on risk and compliance 
management.

To help with the smooth management of this important 
area, most particularly developing systems to deal with 
complaints and contract management, I have established 
comprehensive and defined guidelines and frameworks. I 
have also travelled to our six offices and spoken to all the 
staff to ensure they are familiar with specific legislation 
and registration requirements.

Business Services and Governance 

MARGARET ADAM
RISK AND COMPLIANCE MANAGER

Risk compliance and answering policy development
• Policy framework - New
• Risk management framework - Full refresh and rewrite
• Compliance Management Framework – New
• Controls Assurance Framework – New 
• WHS framework – New 
The aim is to have strong frameworks that guide the organisation and 
support and organise our systems, policies and procedures. The improved 
complaints system and contract register is just one part of the work 
we manage. We also manage a WHS incident or injury register, hazard 
register, gift register, contract register and IT suggestions.  I continually 
seek ideas and suggestions from staff to ensure we maintain a strong 
compliance and risk culture across the organisation. 

THE INCREASE IN STAFF, TENANCIES AND PROPERTIES TO MANAGE 

BRING WITH IT THE ABILITY TO DELIVER

1 2 3Economies 
of scale

Capacity to specialise e.g. 
leasehold specialist

Greater opportunities for 
business diversity



Service Excellence ... 
More than just Houses

The Service Improvement and Partnerships team and 
working with our tenants and communities
What was the role of the Service Improvement and Partnerships (SIP) team during the Management Transfer? 

NICKIE MURCELL
SERVICE IMPROVEMENT AND PARTNERSHIP MANAGER

SIP Team

The main role during the transition phase was to develop 
the connections with, and deliver the communications to, 
the transferring tenants.

We put together a campaign to get the Social Housing 
Management Transfer information out to our tenants. 

This was crucial to having all our new tenants signed up with 
Homes North before the transfer date. A team of people 
pulled together creating information flyers, Frequently Asked 
Questions, welcome to Homes North tea bags, transfer 
packs with all the documents to be signed and more. 

It was a big campaign, but we were very glad we put so 
much effort in up front, as we got a great response back. 
Many of our new tenants came into the offices to say 
hello and ask questions, we met more at pop-up BBQs at 
all our locations, and of course through the door knocks. 
No matter how much is planned it is often a rush to the 
end but we were able to complete the transfer on the 
one day with almost 100% of our tenants signed up.
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Meeting our 
new tenants
Joy and Byron hit the streets
Our Resident Engagement Officers took to the streets 
with our housing team and some of the FACS staff. We 
were working in the hottest time of summer and it was 
challenging at times. But the staff and the REOs took to 
the streets with great enthusiasm and purpose and you 
can’t ask for more.

Business Services and Governance 

What did you do during the transition?
Joy and I were involved in the drop-in 
BBQs in all our transfer towns and 
the door knocks. My approach was to 
create a warm and friendly environment 
with our new tenants. 

I was always happy to enter a tenant’s 
home when invited, particularly after 
doing a quick personal risk assessment.

How are you getting on meeting the 
new tenants?
It’s been awesome and will continue 
to be so. We have found overall there 
has been a positive reception to 
our approach and that the residents 
are now getting the Homes North 
approach to tenancy. In terms of 
resident engagement groups there has 
been a great reception to these and 
something that the new tenants were 
not expecting.

BYRON NORMAN
RESIDENTIAL ENGAGEMENT OFFICER

What is the best thing about the Social 
Housing Management Transfer?
The best thing about the Management Transfer 
is that the transferring residents will now get 
a more holistic approach to their tenancy 
management. Personally, I feel our ability to work 
with the resident on a one-on-one capacity and 
to listen and understand their needs will only be 
a benefit.

On a personal note how has the Social Housing 
Management Transfer been for you?
The Management Transfer has been a blast! It 
was great getting out doing the door knocks 
and meeting the new tenants face to face. The 
door knocks gave me the opportunity to find 
out firsthand some of the issues that the tenants 
were encountering before the actual transfer 
took place. This helped with some pre-planning 
and discussions with the tenancy and asset staff. 
It has also increased our workload but we are 
helping more people, and getting stuck in to 
really help people change their lives.

YEAR OF TRANSFORMATION  - SOCIAL HOUSING MANAGEMENT TRANSFER

What was the biggest issue you had 
to overcome for the Social Housing 
Management Transfer?
A big challenge was explaining the changes 
to how their rent is calculated, particularly 
the rent assistance component. This was 
particularly difficult with elderly tenants and 
even though our fact sheet showed the 
change very clearly, and that they wouldn’t 
be out of pocket, in some cases they were 
still worried. It will take some time for a few 
of the tenants to feel comfortable about this 
change.

I believe the biggest priority for tenants was 
their maintenance issues which was often 
at the forefront of many conversations.
Explaining that we didn’t have the 
maintenance contract was difficult to get 
across at times, particularly when they 
believed Homes North could fix things 
quickly. Therefore, it is important that we 
advocate to FACS as much as possible for 
our tenants.



“I am working with the new tenants in Moree and I just love it. 
There are so many stories and they are very positive about Homes 

North taking over the management of their homes.” 

Joy Wilson - REO Gunnedah and Moree
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New groups across the transfer locations have begun. 
Focussed meetings for Aboriginal tenants are proving to be a 
great opportunity for everyone to tell us more about how we 
can better help Aboriginal people and their communities.

What is community development and how does this fit in with 
Homes North’s Social Housing Management Transfer plans?
A key part of any community development approach is talking. 
We are talking with tenants and gaining an understanding of what 
they think is important for their community. Of course, also talking 
with staff and getting insights into their experience with tenants, 
the community and other services is all part of the information 
gathering that is crucial to successful community development. 
Working closely with other services with common goals also 
means we have a better chance of success.

Homes North’s aims for the community are long term and our 
plans are flexible, so they will change as the community changes. 
There are short term goals like igniting resident’s engagement 
and improving the physical environment. But long term, slow burn 
strategies and outcomes are needed to revitalise whole areas in 
a way that is self-sustaining and iterative.

In development:

• Vacancy Management Action Plans - to reduce vandalism

• Community engagement plans

• Tenant Satisfaction Survey Action Plans –  feedback 
followed by action

• Gaps in Service Delivery workshops across place team 
meetings

• Resident Engagement Officer’s action plans

Settling in
A few months in and we are:

• Responding to the immediate needs of our tenants

• Reviewing and implementing plans to meet the 
challenges of the new portfolio

• Listening to stakeholders and responding to immediate 
opportunities in a timely and planned manner

• Rolling out plans for a cohesive service for our tenants

New Resident Engagement Groups 



“Service Providers are seeing Homes North as a provider who wants 
to work collaboratively with other providers for positive results 

for our joint clients” 

Joy Wilson - REO Gunnedah and Moree
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Homes North’s vision for reconciliation is an environment where Aboriginal cultural understanding is 
present and embraced in business as usual and long term strategies. 

Reconciliation 
Action Plan 

RECONCILIATION ACTION PLAN COMMITTEE REPORT
A current focus of RAP planning is Homes North’s cultural learning 
program. We are currently exploring the development of content 
and how best to deliver the program to all staff. It is envisaged the 
learning will involve face to face components of a general nature 
followed by more localised in-depth content. 

A highlight of this year’s National Reconciliation Week celebrations 
was Homes North’s sponsorship of two major categories for the 
Moree Reconciliation Awards. The night was a great success and 
Homes North’s local Moree team attended the gala dinner with 
over 300 people.

The official openings of our new offices in Moree and Tamworth 
bookended our National Reconciliation Week celebrations, making 
it a very significant occasion in the life of Homes North and the 
future direction of our tenants.

What is the significance of Homes North having a 
Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP)?
Approximately half of Homes North’s properties house an Aboriginal 
person. Homes North regards itself as an organisation that strives to 
provide culturally appropriate services to our Aboriginal tenants and 
families. In order to do this, we must come to terms with the legacy of 
colonisation and its impacts. Our RAP identifies what we need to do to 
work toward achieving reconciliation and service improvement for our 
Aboriginal community members.

This year Homes North’s RAP committee has worked on the 
development of our second INNOVATE RAP to run from June 2019 
to June 2021, which has now been endorsed by Reconciliation 
Australia, an important achievement.

Significantly, Reconciliation Australia received an international 
United Nations Day Honour. This international recognition of 
the work of Reconciliation Australia is by inference international 
recognition of the important work all organisations do through their 
RAP activities.

Our Aboriginal Employment and Support Strategy’s goal of 
achieving a target of 20% Aboriginal staff by the end of 2020 
received a huge boost with our growth. With the recruitment of 
many new staff this year we can report 17.5% of our staff identifying 
as Aboriginal, and a further 10% having Aboriginal children, family 
members or an Aboriginal partner. 



“This new Reconciliation Action Plan builds on the 
foundation of the recognition of the history and respect 
for the culture of Aboriginal people, and commits us to 

work together for real outcomes for our Aboriginal tenants 
and their communities”.

John Kleeman - Member of Homes North Board and RAP Committee
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• 
Armidale Family Support Service

Aboriginal Hostels Limited

• 

Anglicare

• 

Armidale Local Aboriginal Lands Council

• 

Armidale Regional Council

• 

Armidale Neighbourhood Centre

• 

Armidale Sanctuary

• 

Armajun

• 

BackTrack

Benevolent Society

• 

Best Employment

• 

Careers Network

Community Corrections

• 

Department of Health

• 

Disability Advocacy Service

• 

Glen Innes Community Centre

• 

Glen Innes Shire Council

• 

Gunida GunyahGunnedah Shire Council

• 

Hunter Valley Training Centre• 
Inverell Shire Council

Joblink Plus

Mara-Mara Community Inc
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Moree Shire CouncilNew Horizons

NSW Police

Northern Community Care
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New England and Western Tenants Advice and Advocacy Service (NEWTAAS)

Armidale Women's Homelessness Support Service

Byamee Moree Area Homelessness Services

Challenge Community Services

FourishGunnedah Family Support Service

Inverell Accommodation Services

Kirinari Community Services

Many Rivers Regional Housing Management Services
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Department of Community and Justice

Community Services and Housing NSW                                                                                                         

Department of Family and Community Services,

Land and Housing Corporation

Aboriginal Housing O�ice

Local Landlords & Owners / Local Real Estate Agencies in all servicing areas

Local Contractors/ Tradespeople in all service areas

“When we work together we are stronger and 
we have a better outcome for our clients 

and our service”
Support provider

Our local partners
Service Excellence is not achieved in isolation. 
Homes North would like to acknowledge and thank 
the following organisations and individual staff for 
supporting Homes North Community Housing and our 
tenants throughout the year.



Our staff training and meetings across our communities

Community housing best practice 
is always evolving, and Homes 
North will continue to support 
our staff through education and 
training to allow them to be well 
equipped for their roles and for 
their work with our tenants and 
our communities.   

• 
Armidale Family Support Service

Aboriginal Hostels Limited

• 

Anglicare

• 

Armidale Local Aboriginal Lands Council

• 

Armidale Regional Council

• 

Armidale Neighbourhood Centre

• 

Armidale Sanctuary

• 

Armajun

• 

BackTrack

Benevolent Society

• 

Best Employment

• 

Careers Network

Community Corrections

• 

Department of Health

• 

Disability Advocacy Service

• 

Glen Innes Community Centre

• 

Glen Innes Shire Council

• 

Gunida GunyahGunnedah Shire Council

• 

Hunter Valley Training Centre• 
Inverell Shire Council

Joblink Plus

Mara-Mara Community Inc

• 

Moree Shire CouncilNew Horizons

NSW Police

Northern Community Care

• 

Northern Links

• 

Northern Settlement Service

• 

NSW Business Chamber

• 

Salvation Army

• 

St Vincent de Paul

• 

Starfish Initiatives

• 

Sunnyfield Independence

• 

Tablela
nds Community 

Support

• 

TAF
E N

ew
 En

gla
nd

• 

Tam
wort

h A
bor

igin
al M

edi
cal

 Se
rvic

e

• 

Tam
wort

h C
om

mun
ity 

Ment
al H

eal
th

• 

Tam
wo

rth
 Fa

mily 
Re

fer
ral

 Se
rvi

ce

• 

Tam
wo

rth
 Lo

cal
 Ab

ori
gin

al L
an

ds 
Co

un
cil

• 

Tam
wo

rth
 Re

gio
na

l Co
un

cil
Tam

wo
rth

 Yo
uth

 Ac
co

rd

• 

Ten
ter

fie
ld 

Co
mm

un
ity

 Hu
b

• 

Ten
ter

fie
ld 

Fam
ily

 & 
You

th 
Su

pp
ort

• 
Ten

ter
fie

ld 
Sh

ire
 Co

un
cil

• 

Tru
ste

e a
nd

 Gu
ard

ian

• 

Un
itin

g C
are

• 

Un
ive

rsi
ty 

of 
Ne

w E
ng

lan
d   

New England and Western Tenants Advice and Advocacy Service (NEWTAAS)

Armidale Women's Homelessness Support Service

Byamee Moree Area Homelessness Services

Challenge Community Services

FourishGunnedah Family Support Service

Inverell Accommodation Services

Kirinari Community Services

Many Rivers Regional Housing Management Services

Mission Australia

Pathfinders
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Department of Community and Justice

Community Services and Housing NSW                                                                                                         

Department of Family and Community Services,

Land and Housing Corporation

Aboriginal Housing O�ice

Local Landlords & Owners / Local Real Estate Agencies in all servicing areas

Local Contractors/ Tradespeople in all service areas

Homes North knows the best way to 
deliver the best services for our clients 
and communities is to have well trained 
and informed staff.  Part of our workplace 
improvement strategy is to encourage 
a wide range of connections and skill 
development opportunities as possible.

Homes North also values the relationships 
and partnerships with our local and 
regional services and organisations. We 
work to ensure we remain connected with 
key strategies and projects through a 
range of meetings. They include:

• 2018 Indigenous Stop DV 
Conference in Brisbane

• Armidale Council Community Hub 
Meeting

• Armidale/Tamworth/Moree Safety 
Action Meetings

• Armidale Women’s Shelter Monthly 
Meeting

• BackHome/Starfish Initiatives 
House Meeting

• Community Book Library Launch
• Tamworth Domestic and Family 

Violence Committee Meeting
• Tamworth Connect
• FACS Case Conference Meeting
• Freeman House Xmas BBQ
• Grand Opening of Headspace 

Moree

• HASI (Housing and 
Accommodation Support 
Initiative) 

• Homelessness action 
Team meetings

• NAIDOC Family Fun Day 
• Place Team Meetings
• Police Meeting
• Police crime prevention 

meetings
• Premiers Youth Initiative 

Meetings
• Quit B Fit Day
• Rent Choice Youth PFG 

Meeting & Tamworth 
Youth Accord

• Rent It Keep It
• Support Services Round 

Table Meeting Gunnedah

• SSI International Housing 
Issues in Armidale for 
Refugees Meeting

• Youth Accord
• Youth Opportunities 

Working Group
• Victims Services 

Armidale Roadshow
• Victims Services 

Tamworth Roadshow

Staff training over the last year
• Arrears, Tribunal and End Of 

Tenancy
• Dealing with difficult 

conversations and situations
• Influencing without authority
• User Access Testing at FACS 

Housing office
• FACS Tenancy Transfer Door 

Knock Training
• Introduction to EMS Basix
• Aboriginal Cultural 

Awareness Training
• Child Safety Training

• Safety AM Training
• Certificate IV Social Housing
• Diploma in Management and 

Leadership
• BASIX Document Template Training
• Household Saving Energy Training
• First Aid
• Respectful Workplace & Code of 

Ethical Conduct
• Vacant Property Training
• Trauma & Addictions Training
• Hoarding and Squalor training

• First Aid Course
• Respectful Workplace & 

Code of Ethical Conduct
• Certificate III Community 

Services
• Visit to the Housing 

Contact Centre - Sydney
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Asset Managers 
Annual Report
2018 / 2019

Homes North Asset Services Team is responsible for 
maintaining properties, both owned and managed, to a 
standard that ensures compliance with:
• The Residential Tenancies Act
• Australian Standards
• National Construction Code/ Building Code of Australia
• Local Council requirements
• Where applicable, L&HC asset performance standards 6.2i
• 

New Business
• Commenced the Social Housing Management Transfer on 

May 6th 2019
• Commenced management of Armidale Local Aboriginal Lands 

Council properties
• Engagement of BackTrack to complete lawns and grounds 

maintenance to our Armidale unit complexes.

Planned Maintenance
Completion of the Glen Innes and Tenterfield Planned maintenance
Glen Innes and Tenterfield – Planned Maintenance Project 2018-2019 as at 14-08-2019

Location Total Properties Properties 
Scoped

Properties scoped not 
issued or cancelled

Completed Work in Progress Access Issues

Glen Innes 96 94 3 88 2 0
Tenterfield 46 46 0 45 1 0
Tranche 1 7 7 0 7 0 0

Highlights 2018 / 2019
Planned Maintenance
• Completion of the Glen Innes and Tenterfield planned 

maintenance project.
• Completion of Aboriginal community garden and shelter at 201 

Canambe St Armidale with grant funding
• Completion of common area pergola at 14 Rockvale Rd 

Armidale with grant funding

Effectiveness of regular planned maintenance
Homes North’s commitment to regular planned maintenance 
is paying off. Regular planned maintenance not only reduces 
maintenance expenditure on responsive and planned 
maintenance it increases tenant satisfaction.

3 year planned maintenance expenditure – a 
reduction in costs of 45%.

2013 2018/2019

Expenditure $2,467 $4,541

Asset Expenditure report
Expenditure ($) Budget ($)

Total Expenditure 1,720,973 1,956,010

Cyclic Maintenance 64,566 185,912

Planned Maintenance 741,978 1,050,298

Responsive Maintenance 914,429 719,800

Commencement of the Social Housing Management 
Transfer contract on May 6th 2019
Scoping of the Social Housing Management Transfer 
properties
The Asset team commenced the scoping of the Social Housing 
Management Transfer properties in Moree and the following is 
a report on progress. 
The Asset team are behind schedule for the Social Housing 
Management Transfer scoping (approximately 2 months behind 
schedule) due to the unexpected work load generated from 
managing the complexities of the Social Housing Management 
Transfer contract. The Asset team is in the process of engaging 
an additional Technical officer to assist with this work load.

Social Housing Management Transfer Planned 
Maintenance scoping Project 2018-2019  
as at 14-08-2019

Location Total 
Properties

Properties  
Scoped

Scope not 
yet uploaded

Access 
Issues

Average scope 
amount

Total amount 
of all scopes

Moree 189 121 50 49 $7,938 $563,623



Completed
accedited
training

72%

44%

17%
6%6%

Traineeship
commencements

Completed 
traineeships

Comp traineeships 
& start higher 
qualifications

Head
hunted

Engagement of Back Track to complete lawns and grounds 
maintenance on our Armidale unit complexes.
Homes North engaged BackTrack, a not for profit organisation who 
specialise in assisting disengaged youth, to complete the lawns and 
grounds maintenance to all our unit complexes in Armidale approximately 
12 months ago. This has been a great success and BackTrack provided the 
following achievements;
The BT Works team for this period is comprised of the following:

The Home North Contract allowed the following contribution to these outcomes at 
BackTrack
• 23 local young people gained paid work hours with a total of 995 hours on the 

job. 
• 6 of these young people were able to progress their traineeships on the job 

with one completion during the period. 

Of this team the following outcomes were achieved over the 12 months.

Completion of Social Housing Innovation Fund 
(SHCIF) funding- Aboriginal community garden 
and shelter at 201 Canambe St Armidale
Homes North was successful in obtaining SHCIF 
funding to construct an Aboriginal community 
garden and shelters at 201 Canambe St Armidale as 
per the photos below.

Early
School 

Leavers

100%

39% 33% 33%

Long
Term

Unemployed

Criminal 
Behaviour

Homeless
or at
risk

Commencement Status

Outcomes
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2019 Report Card
Homes North launched a new online complaints system in April 2019 to prepare to manage the expected increase in 
complaints following the growth in tenancy and property numbers from the Social Housing Management Transfer. The 
online system makes lodging a complaint simple and easy via the Homes North website. It also assists in capturing 
more relevant information that allows us to improve our customer service.

Complaints or 
service requests 
in total 

Completed in 
timely manner

Complaints received 
after the Social Housing 
Management Transfer 
date of May 6

Complaints received via 
FACS Housing feedback line  
since May 6

Non SHMT Properties 
vacant report 
(Please note: Homes North does not currently 
manage the SHMT maintenance contract)

Complaints via the  
Homes North website  
since April

Vacant Tenantable* 
Turnaround Time 
(As per the Registrarof Community Housing definition)

Vacant Un-Tenantable** 
Turnaround Time 
(As per the Registrar of Community Housing definition)

 12 83% 56% 35%

0

22%

12 days 9 days

* Vacant Tenantable refers to properties that are ready to be occupied 
** Vacant Un-Tenantable refers to void properties that require significant upgrade works to be completed before they can be re-tenanted.

This includes long term vacancies subject to insurance claims 
Our Vacant Un-Tenantable Turnaround figures for 2015/2016 are well above the Registrar’s benchmark. During the financial year Homes North 
had three long term vacancies subject to protracted insurance claims that could not be tenanted during this time. 

2019 Performance 2019 Performance 2019 Performance

The complaints and service request system is an important tool for Homes North to improve the way we manage 
our tenancies and our business. It provides a foundation for managing quality control and customer service 
improvements.



“I am very happy with the treatment we receive 
from Homes North, always polite and kind” 

Anonymous feedback from our Tenant Survey
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Greatest need is defined as:
People who are homeless or imminently homeless; those living in crisis accommodation
People whose life or safety is at risk in their current accommodation
People whose health condition is aggravated by their housing
People whose housing is inappropriate to their needs
People with very high rental housing costs i.e. those who paid more than 41% of their income in rent at time of allocation

 476 55 years and over  (22%)

 634 26 - 54 years  (30%)

 947 25 years and younger  (46%)

Who did we help this year?
2019 Performance 2019 Performance 2019 Performance

As at 31th March 2019 As at 31th March 2019As at 31th March 2019

As at 31th March 2019

89 
new tenancies who  
were youth 
[25 years and under] 

162  
new tenancies in 
greatest need 
at the time of allocation 
(priority)

36  
Greatest Need 
Disabled

83  
Greatest Need 
Youth

82  
Greatest Need 
Indigenous

595  
Assisting a person 
with a disability

176 
new tenancies 
in the year to 31st March 2019

As at 31th March 2019 

882 
By cultural identity
Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander

Residents as at 31th March 2019 by age:    

92%

50%

46% 20% 47%

28%
42%

New Households

New Tenancies

Who lives in our houses?



Where does our money come from?

Where does our money go?

6%
Borrowings

34% 
Rent - Capital Properties

16% 
 Rent - Capital Properties SHMT

15% 
Rent - Leasehold Properties

17%
Rent - Owned
(Homes North &
Nation Building)
Properties

12%
Leasehold Government Grant Subsidy

0% 
Fee for service

9% 
Routine Repairs and Maintenances

7% 
Property Upgrades

25%
Service Delivery Sta�ing Costs

23%
Leasehold property rent paid

24% 
Direct Property Costs including  rates, insurance

 and common area maintenance

7%
Administrative
Overheads 5% 

Plant Property & Equipment
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Corporate Governance
At Homes North we understand ‘corporate governance’ to be the 
framework of rules, relationships systems and processes within 
and by which authority is exercised and controlled.  It includes 
the mechanisms by which companies and those in control are 
held to account.  

Our Board of Directors recognises its role in overseeing the 
determination and implementation of policies and processes that 
reflect good corporate governance. We recognise that we must 
continuously make improvements by considering, reviewing and 
testing and changing processes.

We are a registered charity under the Australian Charities 
and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012 (“ACNC”).  As a 
public company limited by guarantee we are regulated by the 
Corporations Act, but as modified by the ACNC Act.  We therefore 
recognise that the ACNC Act is the main law applicable to us in 
relation to corporate governance.   The ACNC prescribes the 
minimum corporate governance standards which we must meet 
to remain registered with the ACNC.   

ACNC Corporate 
Governance Standards
Standard 1: Purposes are not for profit in nature. 
The objects of our company are clearly not for profit.  The 
objects are primarily to create secure, affordable and sensitively 
managed housing opportunities for low income households, 
regardless of race, creed, colour, gender or sexual orientation.

Standard 2: Accountability to members. 
We have a limited number of members to whom we are 
accountable.  Each year an Annual General Meeting of 
members is held. Members have the opportunity to review the 
Annual Report including the full audited financial statements, 
ask questions and raise concerns about how Homes North is 
governed.  Directors, senior management and the external 
auditor are in attendance at that meeting.

Standard 3: Compliance with Australian law
This is defined as not committing a serious offence (such as 
fraud) under any Australian law or breach a law that may result 
in a penalty of 60 penalty units (currently $10,200) or more.  We 
currently comply with this standard. 

Governance  

Standard 4: Suitability of responsible persons
We must take reasonable steps to: 

• be satisfied that our responsible persons (This includes 
the CEO and Board members) are not disqualified from 
managing a corporation under the Corporations Act or 
disqualified from being a responsible person of a registered 
charity by the ACNC Commissioner; and

• remove any responsible person who does not meet these 
requirements.

There are currently six skills-based Directors who bring with 
them a variety of backgrounds in financial management, 
risk management, education and strategic planning, policy 
development, housing services, banking, community services, 
business management, residential development, Urban, regional 
and local government planning.  Prior to acceptance of each new 
Board member a search is conducted to check that they are not 
listed as a disqualified person.

Standard 5: Duties of responsible persons
The following duties apply to responsible persons:

• to act with reasonable care and diligence

• to act honestly and fairly in the best interests of the charity 
and for its charitable purposes

• not to misuse their position or information gained as a 
responsible person

• to disclose conflicts of interest

• to ensure that the financial affairs of the charity are 
managed responsibly, and

• not to allow the charity to operate while it is insolvent.

At Homes North we take active steps to ensure each one of 
these duties is fulfilled by each responsible person.

It is recognized that these corporate Governance standards 
provide a minimum standard.   Homes North has therefore 
voluntarily adopted the Australian Securities Exchanges’ 
Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations 
(ASX Principles) and applied them, insofar as it is sensible and 
realistic to do, even though we are not a listed entity.  We do this 
because we are a large not for profit organisation in which there 
is a high level of public interest.



ASX Corporate Governance 
Principles
The applicable ASX Corporate Governance Principles considered 
applicable are as follows:

1. Lay solid foundations for management and oversight:  
A listed entity should clearly delineate the respective roles 
and responsibilities of its board and management and 
regularly review their performance.

2. Structure the Board to be effective and add value: 
The Board of a listed entity should be of an appropriate size 
and collectively have the skills, commitment and knowledge 
of the entity and the industry in which it operates, to enable it 
to discharge its duties effectively and to add value.

3. Instil a culture of acting lawfully, ethically and responsibly: 
A listed entity should instil and continually reinforce a culture 
across the organisation of acting lawfully, ethically and 
responsibly.

4. Safeguard the integrity of corporate reports: 
A listed entity should have appropriate processes to verify the 
integrity of its corporate reports.

5. Recognise and manage risk: 
A listed entity should establish a sound risk management 
framework and periodically review the effectiveness of that 
framework.

6. Remunerate fairly and responsibly: 
A listed entity should pay director remuneration sufficient 
to attract and retain high quality Directors and design its 
executive remuneration to attract, retain and motivate high 
quality senior executives and to align their interests with the 
creation of value for security holders and with the entity’s 
values and risk appetite.
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Board of Directors
Jane Michie

Chairperson: Appointed 19 December 2018 

Director: Appointed 16 June 2015

Current Position: Research Support Officer, University of New England

Qualifications: Master of Business Administration (Professional Accounting 
– University of New England; Bachelor of Arts – Newcastle 
University; Diploma of Government (Management) – 
Australian Institute of Management

Experience: Over 20 years’ experience in management and finance in 
the medical, financial services, community services and local 
government sectors.

Special Responsibilities: Member of the Audit and Risk Committee

“I’m passionate about supporting a 
regionally based organisation that provides 

an important community service and 
understands and responds to the needs 

of its clients through local knowledge and 
employment of local people.”

“I am proud to have a long association 
with Homes North Community Housing in 
their commitment to supply good quality 

housing at an affordable price for low 
income families.”

Rex Gream
Deputy Chairperson: Appointed 19 December 2018

Chairperson: August 2017 to December 2019

Current Position: Administrative Manager, Roberts & Morrow Financial 
Planning

Experience: 40 years in the banking and finance industry; board 
experience with other community welfare organisations.
Specific experience in approving development loan 
applications including assessment of costings, progress 
payments and valuations, monitoring of progress payments, 
and inspections.

Special Responsibilities: Member of the Audit and Risk Committee

“I joined the Board at a time when the social 
outcomes for our tenants was increasing in 

priority, alongside excellent housing provision, and 
Homes North was setting a new strategic plan. 

Now after the dramatic expansion in numbers of 
properties placed in our hands to manage, we 

have a real opportunity to make a difference, and 
it is a really good time to be involved.”

John Kleeman
Director: Appointed 30 November 2015

Qualifications: Bachelor of Science (Hons) (Adelaide); Doctor of 
Philosophy (Australian National University)

Experience: Director/head of institutional planning and strategy; 
and academic teaching, research and administration, 
University of New England. Senior office holder in 
community organisations (voluntary).

Special Responsibilities: Member Board Tender Committee; Member 
Reconciliation Action Plan Working Group; HN 
representative Member of Board of Alliance Social 
Enterprises



homes | lives | communities

“Giving back to the community is very 
important, and working with Homes North 
allows me to use my skills and experience 
to give not only to my community but also 

across our region.”

“I have had a long term commitment to 
services that empower people to have the 

ability and resources to choose and manage 
their own life journey and I want those services 
to continually challenge themselves as to how 

they provide opportunities to clients.”

“I welcome the opportunity to contribute to the 
important work Homes North is doing in our 
communities across the New England North 

West in providing affordable housing and 
helping to address economic inequality.”

Libby Cumming
Director: Appointed: 30 November 2015

Current Position: Principal - New England North West Planning Services, 
Town Planning Consultancy

Qualifications: Bachelor Urban and Regional Planning – University of 
New England;  Graduate Certificate of Local Transport 
Planning – University of New England; Graduate 
Certificate of Urban Land Development – University of 
New England; Graduate Certificate of Environmental 
Design – University of New England; Graduate 
Certificate of Planning Law and Administration – 
University of New England; Financial Management 
Certificate – Charles Sturt University; Advanced Social 
Planning – Local Government Centre; Workplace 
Training (Category 1) – Central West Community 
College; Building in Bushfire Prone Areas Certificate 
– University of Technology Sydney; Aboriginal Sites 
Awareness Certificate – NSW Aboriginal Heritage 
Office.

Experience: Thirty years of numerous diverse management roles 
within the Local Government sector of all regulatory 
services including development and building 
certification, health and environmental services, 
heritage, flood plain and bushfire management, 
management of internal processing and community 
service projects and strategic policy making.

Ken Bone
Director: Appointed: 9 August 2017

Current Position: Board Chair Woodville Alliance

Qualifications: Bachelor of Economics, University of Sydney

Experience: Commonwealth public servant primarily 
Parliamentary and Health Departments, Group 
Manager Operations Parramatta City Council, 
General Manager for NSW Housing for country and 
city operations,  Board Chair for Western Suburbs 
Community Housing.

Alison Sheridan
Director: Appointed 14 March 2018

Current Position: Professor in Management, UNE Business School 
- Member of the Audit and Risk Committee

Qualifications: Bachelor of Agricultural Economics (Hons 1) 
University of Sydney PhD, University of New 
England GAICD, FANZAM, PFHEA

Experience: Thirty years of teaching, research and 
management roles at the University of New 
England.  Experienced Director, including of 
Regional Australia Bank, New England North 
West Regional Development Board (2003-2007) 
and not for profit training organisations. 

Special Responsibilities: Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee
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Financial Summary 

Investing for the future
This reporting year Homes North focused its attention 
and resources on the once in a generation opportunity 
arising from the management transfer of approximately 
1,700 NSW Government owned Social Housing 
Properties to Homes North which occurred on May 2019. 

Preparation for the transfer involved significant up-front 
expenditure in the 2018-2019 financial year.  The impact on the 
2018- 2019 financial year was significant particularly in relation 
to salaries and wages.  We had a dedicated transformation 
management team in place and began recruiting additional staff 
in the lead up to May 2019 transfer of properties.  It is important 
to note that the implementation of the SHMT program didn’t end 
on transfer but will continue for at least a year as Homes North 
develops and implements new systems to support the increased 
growth in volume and scope of activities.  Part of preparing for 
the SHMT also included implementation of a new integrated 
finance and Housing IT system in April 2019.  Over the year staffing 
numbers have grown from 38 to 68. Some of the implementation 
expenditure has been capitalised which will allow us to spread 
the cost of implementation over the first 5 years of the 20 year 
contract.  

The financial statements show a surplus of $735,998 
(2017-2018 surplus $54,327), which includes:

$2,083,964 Revaluation This increment is made up of: a 4.7% 
($1,701,783) increase in the valuation relating 
to the 250 (NBESP title transfer) properties; 
and a 4.2% ($382,181) increase in the valuation 
of Homes North’s 30 owned properties as at 
30 June 2018.

($1,347,966) Underlying deficit If we exclude the effect of revaluations of 
property the current year deficit is $1,347,966 
(2018, surplus $54,327). Overall rental income 
has increased by 4.5% however tenancy 
property and management expenses have 
increased by 22%. This is mainly attributable 
to the SHMT growth readiness costs and a 
spike in vacant repair costs due in part to an 
increase in the number of vacants.

Borrowing for Growth
Borrowings as at 30 June stood at $6 million (facility limit $6.5 
million). Homes North estimates that expenditure in preparation for 
the SHMT of $2-2.5 million dollars.  The remaining loan balance 
relates to a leveraged asset agreement to increase the supply of 
new social and affordable housing by 30 units of accommodation 
over 10 years, in return for receiving title transfer to 250 
units of accommodation under the Nation Building Economic 
Stimulus Program in 2011 and 2014.  This commitment has been 
completed ahead of schedule and was funded by a combination 
of borrowings and retained earnings. The number of units of 
accommodation has increased stock numbers by 12%, in terms of 
the value of the portfolio the increase is 26-28%.

How our properties are valued
The carrying value of all properties where title is held by Homes 
North is measured by obtaining an initial external independent 
valuation. In addition every property is then revalued once every 
three years on a rolling basis. The average increase or decrease in 
independent valuations is then applied as a company valuation to 
the remaining property portfolio on an annual basis, to obtain the 
‘fair value’ of the portfolio. A key assumption is that valuations for 
these properties will continue to increase in line with the general 
property market. Annual increments/ decrements are then used 
as a basis for the company valuation to the remaining portfolio by 
location.

Planned Maintenance Reserve
As at June 2019 Homes North was responsible for the planned 
maintenance of 2,394 properties. This includes 772 capital, 
transitional, Nation Building Economic Stimulus Program, and 
Homes North owned properties. Each year a provision for planned 
maintenance of $1,500 per property less actual expenditure is 
allocated from current or prior year profits and transferred to a 
reserve. The aim of this reserve is to support the implementation 
of a 25 year planned maintenance program which will result in the 
majority of properties being maintained at or above standard. The 
accumulated reserves associated with this provision now total $1.6 
million ($2,114 per property) as at 30 June 2019.
In addition under the SHMT Homes North is now responsible 
for managing the planned maintenance associated with an 
additional 1,622 capital properties.  It is our intention to apply our 
current approach to planned maintenance to the new portfolio 
commencing in the 2019-2020 financial year.
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Directors’ Report
The directors present their report on Homes North Community Housing Company Ltd (“the 
company” or “Homes North”) for the financial year ended 30 June 2019.
The names of each person who has been a director during the year and to the date of this report are:

Jane Michie
Rex Gream
John Kleeman
Libby Cumming
Ken Bone

Alison Sheridan 

The directors have all been in office since the start of the financial year unless otherwise stated.

Principal Activities
The principal activity of the Company during the financial year was to provide secure, appropriate and affordable rental housing sensitively 
managed for people on low incomes who are disadvantaged in gaining access to or maintaining a tenancy, and or are at risk of homelessness.

Short and Long Term Objectives 
The company has identified the following short and long term objectives 
to achieve within 10 years:

• Provide community members who are limited in their capacity to 
access safe, appropriate and affordable accommodation, with a range 
of housing solutions

• Support community members to sustain tenancies, improve wellbeing 
and develop independence through:
 ◦ The direct provision of housing management and related services; 
and

 ◦ Fostering an integrated service response for community members 
who have complex needs and require stable and affordable 
housing to thrive

• Develop strong partnerships with local agencies and service providers 
to strengthen and build on a client-centred and outcomes-focused 
service delivery model

• Continually improve and expand our service at all levels, including 
adapting and innovating in ways that ensure we achieve a broad range 
of positive outcomes for the disadvantaged in our communities

• Implement a life-cycle plan for the disposal and replacement of 
properties to ensure the value of the Company’s portfolio, and a high 
standard of housing provision, is maintained. Continue to increase 
the supply of housing where rent is based on a community member’s 
financial capacity and not only on financial return

• Raise awareness of housing-related issues in the region

Performance Measurement
The Company achieves its short and long term 
objectives by developing 3-4 year strategic plans. A 
detailed operational plan maps out activities that will 
be undertaken each year of the plan. The operational 
plan informs the development of our annual budgets.
In addition the Company’s Strategic Asset 
Management Plan ensures our housing portfolio aims 
to meet the specific needs within the regions where 
we operate. The plan includes analysis of housing 
markets and underpins decisions around acquisitions 
and disposals. It is also used to inform the 25 year 
planned maintenance schedule.



A review of the Company’s Annual Operational Plan including activities undertaken and achieved follows:

A review of the Company’s Annual Operational Plan including activities undertaken 
and achieved follows:

Operational activities undertaken 2019-2020

1. Let our tenants guide us into the future
Our tenants will remain our reference point for all strategic and operational planning. Understanding our tenants’ 
experience of our service, as well as the barriers they experience in achieving their aspirations, is vital to ensuring 
we allocate resources appropriately and effectively.

Strategic goal How Status
1.1 Develop an 

overarching Client 
Engagement Strategy 
that drives our 
operations.

Review and revise Client Engagement strategy to include new 
strategies to improve tenant outcomes
Develop and implement Place Plans for Moree, Coledale in 
Tamworth and South Inverell. 
Tenant newsletter each quarter, facebook regular updates, key 
tenant events 
New tenancies linked to tenant groups

	In development

	Consultation phase underway

	Occurring and ongoing

	Underway

1.2  Initiating projects 
and events that 
connect services 
to clients along the 
housing continuum: 
Domestic and Family 
Violence projects; 
sustaining tenancy 
projects; projects 
improving access to 
housing, including 
homeless clients

Develop specific reporting on outcomes 

Progress service hub and co-location model

Tenant support coordination – implement a professional 
development program 
Hoarding training and psychosocial supports

Hold regional Housing forum
Develop and implement Cultural Competency learning plan

Place Plans to implement Changing Places plans that include a 
focus on support and opportunities for pathways to employment 
and completion of education and training.
Include traditional based healing for the Aboriginal community, 
community involvement in culturally appropriate service delivery

	 New integrated housing software: 
reports to be re-developed

	 Co-locations with other services 
occurring. Hub implementation in 
train.

	- Training for complex case 
management postponed

	 Training underway
	 Forum postponed
	 Cultural competency learning 

program plan completed. Reviewing 
implementation process.

	 Place Planning consultations 
commenced.

	- Planning stage

1.3  Address the 
needs of specific 
demographics: 
Aboriginal 
Community members, 
older people, people 
with disabilities, 
younger people

Aboriginal At Risk Tenancy Support project x 3 years

Continue regular Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) working party 
meetings and rolling out components of the plan. 
Take up NDIS opportunities to support tenant outcomes

	 Project Plan completed.
	 Specialist Aboriginal Support Officer 

engaged
	 Occurring and ongoing

	  Limited opportunities

1.4 Use our tenants’ 
experiences to inform 
and influence policy 
and improve service 
delivery

Building capacity of tenant groups for self-culling, self-
management of complaints 
Continue to develop skills and capacity of tenant groups/ policy 
review process
Tenant satisfaction survey, complaints and feedback to be used 
to develop specific strategies to improve key areas. Target is 90% 
satisfaction post 2021

	 Engagement with new tenants 
underway

	 Ongoing

	 Ongoing

1.5 Support tenant 
enterprise

Potential tenant enterprises – continue to work with Backtrack, 
employment services, contractors and other key stakeholders 
on opportunities to improve tenant engagement, training and 
employment outcomes.
Use place plans, local councils and local service providers to 
work with communities to identify opportunities such as waste 
and rubbish removal, community involvement in beautification 
programs 

	 Projects underway

	- Underway
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2. Service excellence – more than just houses
Homes North is committed to supporting healthy homes, lives and communities

Strategic goal How Status
2.1 Develop the 

capacity for growth 
and adaption 
through strong 
organisational 
systems

Review and implement revised performance management framework including 
training
Develop improvement plan from accreditation and registration reports
Compliance role to continue to review compliance of policies and procedures

Continue to review and develop reporting structures to achieve required 
performance outcomes. Includes early recognition and intervention for 
breaches of the tenancy agreement to sustain tenancies; Rent arrears 
benchmark of 2%; annual internal audits of compliance with tenancy 
management policies and procedures   
Minimise tenant damages through Best Start, AIM Plan . Continue to systemise 
property inspections to provide key data and triggers for our staff to better 
manage and support our complex clients.

	To be developed

	Underway

	Ongoing

	Commenced 

	Project commenced

2.2 Improve our 
operations to 
optimise our 
support for complex 
clients

Continue review of performance of partners and list of potential 
stakeholders
Additional training for staff to manage complex/challenging client 
behaviours/hoarding
Additional specialist resources for housing teams eg Rent It Keep It 
delivery, Hoarding Management program, DFV, disability and mental health 
support
Financial counselling support for tenants/financial inclusion activities

Continue to identify gaps in service delivery for complex clients. Seek 
funding and partnerships to support improvements in delivery.

Establish effective triage and management processes for new business - 
Housing Options services. 

	 Not commenced 

	- Completed and more planned

	 Various programs underway

	 Plan to be developed

	 Funding for aboriginal 
tenancies at risk, joint 
application for DFV, small grant 
for mental health program for 
tenants

	 Triage completed Armidale 
Tamworth. Further refinement 
for other locales underway

2.3 Be strategic 
about partner 
organisation 
relationships

Manage expectations of partner organisations. Build on productive 
partnerships 
Continue to play a key role in service coordination initiatives ie. Place 
Teams, local and specialist interagency meetings, including chairing and 
participation 
Develop a Regional Outcomes Framework with agreed KPIs to encourage 
accountability and responsibility
Develop cross sector projects and funding applications, event 
management for conferences, forums/workshops to encourage 
professional development
Preparation of EOI for maintenance services July 2020 
(12 months prior to July 2021)

	 Ongoing

	 Ongoing

	 In planning stage with service 
sector at key locations

	 Not commenced

	- Not commenced

2.4 Maintain sector 
leading tenant 
satisfaction levels 
and quality

Continue to review and implement the Customer Service Standards
Re-run customer service training

Staff culture training 

Security cameras/alarm systems for priority homes

	 Commenced and ongoing
	 Customer Service training 

scheduled for Dec 2019
	 Continual reinforcement of HN 

culture at staff and team meetings
	 Quotes and sites identified for 

security

2.5 Support the 
aspirations of our 
tenants

Implement pilot of new initiatives that provide pathways to training and 
employment - AIMplan
Apply for funding that connects tenants to career and training opportunities

Participate in “Future Directions” initiatives that support the aspirations of our 
tenants such as Opportunity Pathways with Best Employment and SHAEping 
up in Moree for employment outcomes

Property Management to include opportunities for local employment and skill 
development, support ATSI employment  

	 Establishing “Job Clubs” across 
region. Pilot in Armidale

	 Continual review of funding 
opportunities

	 Part of Design and 
Implementation group.

	Discussions with key 
stakeholder in Moree 
underway



3. Support our staff to make a difference
Homes North will focus on stable and strong leadership across our team.

Strategic goal How Status
3.1 Become an 

employer of choice
Foster professional learning and development

	◦ Continue to develop, review and implement training plan  
	◦ Complete capability framework for Housing staff
	◦ Develop and implement policies that support career advancement
	◦ Support staff through Certificate and Diploma training

Support professional excellence and performance culture
	◦ Time management and stress management skills development 
	◦ Develop, implement and evaluate set competencies for all positions 

with a focus on housing management 
	◦ Support our team’s wellbeing and resilience through growth and 

change, include visits to smaller offices
	◦ Wellbeing program (Agreed to new round of $200pa) plus fun 

workshop activities.
	◦ Staff Wellbeing (Pulse) surveys run biannually

Development and implementation of HR plan:
	◦ Redevelopment of induction programme
	◦ Review of contracts management

	◦ Policy training

	◦ Staff retention
Continue to support traineeships across the organisation x 3 

	 In development

	- Not commenced

	 Completed

	 Ongoing

	 All ongoing

	- Not commenced

	 Ongoing

	 Ongoing

	 Survey agreed & scheduled

	 Induction plan completed

	 Not commenced
	 Policy training completed for 

Privacy, Conflict of Interest
	 HR Coordinator employed
	 Staff retention high
	 Completed

4. Develop a dynamic range of housing solutions
Homes North recognises the need to be responsive to the changing housing needs of the New England North West

Strategic goal How Status
4.1 Develop and 

acquire new 
properties for social 
and affordable 
housing across the 
NENW

Development opportunities being reviewed in light of opportunities in 
Social Housing Management Transfer Programme

	 Under review

4.2 Identify potential 
opportunities 
for development 
partnerships that 
align with Homes 
North’s values and 
vision

Being reviewed in light of opportunities in Social Housing Management 
Transfer Programme

	 Under review

4.3 Strengthen our 
development 
and contract 
management 
capacity

Training on contract management  
Review contract compliance activities wihtin new compliance role 

	- Not commenced
	 Completed. New contract register 

in HN Assurance

4.4 Identify 
opportunities to 
contribute to urban 
renewal

Continue stakeholder meetings across the NENW
Local Place Plans developed with local stakeholders to implement local 
strategies such as waste and rubbish removal, beautification of local areas 
through art and or environmental projects, housing improvements and safety 
features
Community engagement and development approach through place plans and 
local stakeholder engagement
Coledale potential Rent to Buy scheme to support residents to remain in their 
neighbourhood and be strong role models. HN to evaluate potential vacant 
lots for development with affordable housing specialists.

	 Underway
	 Responding to ad hoc needs and 

opportunities while plans are 
being developed

	 First stage of consultations 
underway

	 Long term planning commenced

4.5 Research and 
develop shared 
equity products 
and services to 
facilitate access to 
home ownership for 
low and moderate 
income households

Watching brief due to focus on Social Housing Management Transfer 	 Watching brief
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5. Operational Excellence
Homes North will demonstrate financial strength through our proven capacity 
to manage our business efficiently and contribute to the development of new 
housing supply

Strategic goal How Status
5.1 Develop and 

sustain a culture 
of operational 
excellence 
with continual 
improvement 
across all aspects 
of the business

Development of SharePoint as staff intranet
Continue implementation of internal audit plan 
Review fleet management/centralising of specialist administration functions 
across the organisation including arrears and non-rent debt. Review and 
evaluation of this process. (Possibly internal audit or alternative)
Leasehold specialist role established

	 Completed 
	 Ongoing

	 Partially completed

	 Completed

5.2 Professional 
rebranding of the 
organisation that 
reflects the values 
and commitments 
of the team

Rebranding 
Communications plan

	• Develop an integrated communication strategy which incorporates the use 
of social media
	• Publicity strategy for housing products
	• Review of all office requirements

	 Completed
	 Plan developed and being 

implemented
	 Completed

	- To be developed
	 Underway

5.3 Develop strong 
communication 
principles across 
the organisation

Internal Communication Plan development and implementation

Implement and evaluate regular staff newsletter and CEO communications to 
staff. Ensure teams are engaged

	- Plan to be reviewed for post SHMT 
environment

	 Ongoing

5.4 Manage growth 
within a strong 
change and risk 
management 
framework

Review Growth and Development Plan which includes Risk Management 
Plan. Assess and evaluate and develop new plan for next 2 – 3 years.
Risk Management Framework reviewed

	- To be reviewed

	 Completed, and risk appetite set

5.5 Ensure corporate 
governance 
activities are 
appropriate for the 
nature and size 
of the business 
as it grows and 
develops

Board development activities
Review Board complement and key skills required

Improve board communications (includes facilities and infrastructure)

	 Ongoing

	 Recruitment for Aboriginal Director 
underway

	 Completed

5.6 Maintain robust 
organisational 
systems across our 
asset, finance and 
housing teams

Rolling replacement of computers and allocation for new staff
Continue development, review and audit of policies and procedures across 
all teams
Implement compliance review of policies and procedures
Rolling improvements and enhancements based on identified priorities for 
new software. 

Refine all reporting processes
Responsive Maintenance Call Centre implemented and evaluated
10 Year Asset Maintenance Plan informed by tenant satisfaction survey 
Develop and implement Vacancy Management Action Plan. 
Compilation of property assessment surveys and scopes/ update Strategic 
Asset Management Plan for works post 2021.

	 Ongoing

	 Policy Committee convened

	- Not commenced
	 New software Working Group 

convened
	 Commenced

	 Implemented
	 Planned maintenance FY completed
	Completed

	Developed and in implementation

5.7 Improve our 
financial position 
through the 
development of 
impact investments 
and innovative 
financial models

            Research and evaluate opportunities 	 Ongoing and ad hoc
	 Initial talks with investors and 

developers.

5.8 Develop a culture 
of evaluation and 
project planning

	- Plan of activities needs to be 
developed



Key Performance Indicators 
The company uses the following key performance indicators to measure performance:

2019 2018

Tenancy Management Actual Benchmark Actual Benchmark

Rent arrears ****2.2% 4.0% 2.5% 4.0%

Customer satisfaction rating *** **75% 84% **75%

Supported tenancies as a % of all tenancies ****30% 18% 28% 18%

Complaints to be managed within a reasonable timeframe 20 days **28 days 8 days **28 days

Vacant tenantable (Units with no maintenance required or minor 
maintenance to complete) 12 days **14 days 18 days **14 days

*Vacant un-tenantable 9 days 28 days 40 days 28 days

Notes:

* Vacant un-tenantable relates to void properties that require significant capital upgrade works to be completed before they ‘can be re-tenanted.

** National Registrar for Community Housing benchmarks

*** Customer satisfaction rating surveys were not completed this year as they would have been distorted by the implementation of the SHMT in May 2019 
and will resume in the 2019-2020 financial year.

**** The SHMT portfolio was received in quarter 4. These two figures are as at the end of Quarter 3 and are the most relevant comparison, in the current 
financial year.

2019 2018

Operational and Financial
Actual Benchmark Actual Benchmark

Expenditure on repairs & maintenance does not exceed budget 
average per property

*1,249 700 801 700

Planned and Cyclical maintenance does not exceed budget average 
per property

*1,261 1,500 1,967 1,500

% of Capital properties at Housing NSW Asset Standards *98% 70% 98% 70%

Working Capital Ratio 0.85:1 1.5:1 1.6:1 1.5:1

Notes:

Repairs and maintenance relates to urgent repairs and maintenance.

Planned maintenance relates to replacement of items after fair wear and tear such as kitchens, bathrooms, stoves, hot water services etc. Cyclical 
maintenance includes regular items such as annual smoke alarm, hot water thermostat testing and replacement and pest inspections.

*Figures in relation to Repairs and Maintenance, Planned maintenance and % of properties at standard do not include SHMT properties transferred in 
May 2019.

Working capital ratio is also called the current ratio. It is the relative proportion of the company’s current assets to its current liabilities. It provides an 
indication of a business’s ability to pay its current liabilities with current assets and is used as a measure of liquidity. Please note that Purchase Orders 
that have been issued but not completed as at 30 June have been captured as current liabilities (impact $663,182 decrease in ratio from 1:.03:1 to 0.85:1) 
whereas previously issued purchase orders were disclosed as contingent liabilities and did not impact on this ratio. The remaining decrease in this ratio 
is directly attributable to the implementation of the SHMT in May 2019. It is anticipated that this ratio will return to benchmark levels during the 2019-2020 
financial year.
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The names of the directors in office at any time during, or since the 
end of, the year and the period that each director has been in office:

INFORMATION ON 
DIRECTORS 



INFORMATION ON 
DIRECTORS 

Rex Gream Appointed: 11 April 2008

Special Responsibilities: Deputy Chairperson, Member - Audit and Risk Committee

Current Position: Administrative Manager – Roberts & Morrow

Experience:  Financial Services. Over 40 years in the banking and finance industry

Jane Michie Appointed: 16 June 2015

Special Responsibilities: Chairperson appointed December 2018, Member - Audit and Risk Committee

Current Position: Research Support Officer, University of New England.

Qualifications: Master of Business Administration (Professional Accounting) - University of New England; Bachelor of Arts - Newcastle 
University; Diploma of Government (Management) - Australian Institute of Management

Experience: Over 20 years’ experience in management and finance in the medical, financial services, community services and local 
government sectors.

John Kleeman Appointed: 30 November 2015

Special Responsibilities: Member of Nominations Committee; Representative director on Alliance Social Enterprises Co Ltd;
Member of the Reconciliation Action Plan working group.

Current Position: Retired.  Casual project strategy and planning contract work.

Qualifications: Bachelor of Science (Hons) (Adelaide); 
Doctor of Philosophy (ANU)

Experience: Director/head of institutional planning and strategy; and academic teaching, research and administration, University of New 
England. 
Senior office holder in community organisations (voluntary)

Alison Sheridan Appointed: 14 March 2018

Special Responsibilities: Chairperson Audit and Risk Committee, appointed December 2018

Current Position: Professor in Management - UNE Business School

Qualifications: Bachelor of Agricultural Economics (Hons 1) University of Sydney;
PhD, University of New England;
GAICD, FANZAM, PFHEA

Experience: Thirty years of teaching, research and management roles at the University of New England.  Experienced Director, including 
of Regional Australia Bank, New England North West Regional Development Board (2003-2007) and not for profit training 
organisations.

Libby Cumming Appointed: 30 November 2015

Special Responsibilities: Member of the Nominations Committee; Alternate Member of the Social Housing Management Transformation Committee

Current Position: Principal - Town Planning Consultant

Qualifications: Bachelor Urban and Regional Planning – University of New England;  Graduate Certificate of Local Transport Planning – 
University of New England; Graduate Certificate of Urban Land Development – University of New England; Graduate Certificate 
of Environmental Design – University of New England; Graduate Certificate of Planning Law and Administration – University 
of New England; Financial Management Certificate – Charles Sturt University; Advanced Social Planning – Local Government 
Centre; Workplace Training (Category 1) – Central West Community College; Building in Bushfire Prone Areas Certificate – 
University of Technology Sydney; Aboriginal Sites Awareness Certificate – NSW Aboriginal Heritage Office.

Experience: Thirty years of numerous diverse management roles within the Local Government sector of all regulatory services including 
development and building certification, health and environmental services, heritage, flood plain and bushfire management, 
management of internal processing and community service projects and strategic policy making.

Ken Bone Appointed: 9 August 2017

Special Responsibilities: Chairperson of the SHMT Transformation Committee appointed 12th June 2018; Chairperson of the Nominations Committee.

Current Position: Consultant in governance, housing and project consultant.  
Board Chair Woodville Alliance.

Qualifications: Bachelor of Economics, University of Sydney

Experience: Senior manager with Health Parliamentary departments Commonwealth public service.  
Group Manager Operations Parramatta City Council.  
General Manager for NSW Housing for country and city operations.  
Board Chair for Western Suburbs Community Housing.
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Meetings of Directors
During the financial year, 25 meetings of directors (including committees of directors) were held. Attendances by each director during the 
year were as follows:

Directors 
Meetings

Audit & Risk Committee 
Meetings

Tender Committee 
Meetings

Eligible to Attend Number Attended Eligible to Attend Number Attended Eligible to Attend Number Attended

Rex Gream 10 8 5 3 - -

Jane Michie 10 8 5 2 6 5

John Kleeman 10 10 - - 4 4

Libby Cumming 10 8 - - 4 2

Ken Bone 10 9 - - 10 8

Alison Sheridan 10 9 5 5 - -

Company Secretary
Neil Scholes-Robertson was appointed Company Secretary in November 2015 and continues in office as at the date of this report.  Neil 
jointed the Company as the Manger of Business Services in 2012 and continues in that role.  Neil is a qualified accountant and has a broad 
accounting and teaching background which includes experience in the not for profit industry.

Membership Details
The company is  incorporated as a company limited by guarantee that requires the members of the company to contribute $1 per member 
towards the company liabilities on the winding up of the company. These membership numbers are at 30 June 2017.

Membership Class Number of Members
Individual Members 

Contribution on winding up 
of Company

Total Members Contribution 
on winding up of Company

Ordinary Members 14 $1 $14

Total 14 $1 $14

Auditors’ Independence Declaration
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission 
Act 2012 is attached to these financial statements.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors

Jane Michie - Chairperson Rex Gream - Director 
Dated: 20 November 2019



 

Crowe Horwath Central North  is a member of Crowe Horwath International, a Swiss verein. Each member of Crowe Horwath is a separate and 
independent legal entity. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation other than for the acts or omissions of 
financial services licensees. 

Crowe Horwath Central North 
ABN 91 680 058 554 
Member Crowe Horwath International 

90 Rusden Street 
Armidale NSW 2350 Australia 
PO Box 660 
Armidale NSW 2350 Australia 

Tel 02 6776 5100  
Fax 02 6772 9492 
www.crowehorwath.com.au 

AUDITORS' INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
UNDER SECTION 60-40 OF THE AUSTRALIAN CHARITIES  

AND NOT FOR PROFIT COMMISSION ACT 2012 
TO THE BOARD MEMBERS OF 

HOMES NORTH COMMUNITY HOUSING COMPANY LTD 

ABN 78 014 531 758  

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the financial year to 30 June 2017 there 
have been: 

(i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and 

(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

CROWE HORWATH CENTRAL NORTH 

Kylie Ellis 
Audit Partner 
Registered Company Auditor (ASIC RAN 483424) 
90 Rusden Street 
ARMIDALE NSW 2350 

Dated: 8 November 2017 
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Statement of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive Income
For the Year ended 30 June 2019

Note 2019
$

2018
$

Revenue 2 14,466,868 10,287,366

Fair value (loss)/gain on revaluation of investment property 2,083,964 1,125,068

Administration expenses 3 (b) (1,057,254) (494,056)

Audit, Legal and consultancy expenses 3 (a) (79,547) (51,623)

Depreciation and amortisation expense 3 (a) (248,518) (117,652)

Doubtful debts movement in provision 3 (a) (1,246,886) (475,938)

Employee benefits expense 3 (a) (3,677,654) (2,984,590)

Fuel, light and power expenses (42,736) (32,370)

Interest expenses (194,762) (84,362)

Motor vehicle expenses (84,634) (75,716)

Rental expenses on operating leases 3 (a) (219,117) (147,222)

Tenancy and property management services 3 (b) (8,927,471) (6,839,258)

Training expenses (36,255) (55,320)

Profit before income tax expense
Income tax expense 1 (c)

735,998
 

54,327
 

Profit after income tax expense   735,998   54,327 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - -

Total comprehensive income for the year   $ 735,998   $ 54,327 



Statement of Financial Position 
as at 30 June 2019

Note 2019
$

2018
$

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 4 2,084,253 933,037

Trade and other receivables 5 1,004,197 1,867,760

Other current assets 6   16,912  81,437 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS   3,105,362   2,882,234 

NON CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 7 536,939 392,761

Investment property 8 46,459,465 44,371,513

Intangible assets 9   1,199,444  44,366 

TOTAL NON CURRENT ASSETS   48,195,849   44,808,640 

TOTAL ASSETS  51,301,211  47,690,874 

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 10 1,615,449 479,833

Borrowings 11 17,302 8,861

Employee Benefits 12 582,504 384,012

Other liabilities 13   1,447,548  962,363 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES   3,662,803   1,835,069 

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES

Borrowings 11 6,000,000 5,000,000

Employee Benefits 12   153,742   107,137 

TOTAL NON CURRENT LIABILITIES   6,153,742   5,107,137 

TOTAL LIABILITIES   9,816,545   6,942,206 

NET ASSETS   $  41,484,666   $  40,748,668 

EQUITY

Reserves 14 1,632,175 1,280,950

Retained earnings   39,852,491   39,467,718 

TOTAL EQUITY   $  41,484,666   $  40,748,668 
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Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2017

Planned 
Maintenance

Reserve 
$

Retained
Earnings  

$
Total 

$

Balance at 01 July 2015 1,514,081 39,180,260 40,694,341

Profit after Income Tax Expense - 54,327 54,327

Total other comprehensive income for the year - - -

Transfers to/(from) reserves (233,131) 233,131 -    

Balance at 30 June 2016 1,280,950 39,467,718 40,748,668

Profit after Income Tax Expense - 735,998 735,998

Total other comprehensive income for the year - - -

Transfers to/(from) reserves 351,225 (351,225) -

Balance at 30 June 2017 $     1,632,175 $  39,852,491 $  41,484,666

Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2019

Note
2019

$
2018

$
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash received from operations 15,085,456 10,319,454

Interest received 6,166 5,716

Cash paid to suppliers and employees   (14,120,255)   (11,443,676)

Net cash provided by operating activities   971,367   (1,118,506) 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 3,000 -

Purchase of investment property (3,989) (1,625,639)

Purchase of investments (ASE Loan) (25,000) -

Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (331,845)   (50,766)

Purchase of intangibles (462,317) -

Net cash used in investing activities   (820,151)   (1,676,405)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from borrowings 1,000,000 3,001,718

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities   1,000,000   3,001,718

Net increase (decrease) in cash held 1,151,216 206,807

Cash at the beginning of the financial year   933,037   726,230

Cash at the end of the financial year 4 (a)   $ 2,084,253   $ 933,037 



Note 1: Statement of Significant Accounting Policies Basis of Preparation

Basis of Preparation
The financial statements cover Homes North Community Housing Company Ltd as an individual entity. Homes North Community 
Housing Company Ltd is a public company limited by guarantee, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. These general purpose 
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements 
and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’), Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission 
Act 2012, as appropriate for not-for-profit oriented entities. The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been 
prepared on an accruals basis and are based on historical costs modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected 
non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. The amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded to the 
nearest dollar. 
The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to 
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement 
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in Note 1 (s).  The 
financial statements were authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of directors, on 20 November 2019.

Accounting Policies
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Revenue
Revenue is recognised when the Company is legally entitled to the income and the amount can be quantified with 
reasonable accuracy. Revenues are recognised net of the amounts of goods and services tax (GST) payable to the 
Australian Taxation Office.

Rental income
Rental income is recognised on an accruals basis as rent falls due.

Tenancy management services (Fee for Service Income)
Tenancy management services revenue is recognised on an accruals basis in line with service provision. The fee for 
service income received is the only revenue recognised. At balance date, any other monies on hand in relation to a 
specific fee for service provision are held in trust and classified as a liability.

Government grant funding (includes both ongoing grants and one-off capital grants)
Unconditional government grants are recognised in the profit or loss as other income when the grant becomes 
receivable.
Other Grants received are initially recognised as a deferred income at fair value when there is reasonable assurance 
that they will be received and that the company will comply with the conditions associated with the Grant. Revenue is 
then recognised in the profit and loss on a systematic basis as services are performed and expenses are incurred or 
conditions are fulfilled.

Interest income
Investment income comprises interest. Interest income is recognised as it accrues. 

Other income
Non-operating, other income is recognised as revenue when received.

(b) Expenses
All expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis and has been classified under headings that aggregate all costs 
related to the category. Where costs cannot be directly attributed to a particular category they have been allocated to 
activities on a basis consistent with use of the resources.

(c) Income Tax
The Company has been classified as a Public Benevolent Institution for the purposes of Australian taxation legislation and is therefore 
exempt from income tax, and holds deductible gift recipient status. This exemption has been confirmed by the Australian Taxation 
Office.
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(d) Current and non-current  classification
Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current classification.
An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating 
cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting period; or the 
asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the 
reporting period. All other assets are classified as non-current.
A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the 
purpose of trading; it is due to be settled with 12 months after the reporting period; or there is no unconditional right to defer the 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other liabilities are classified as non-current.

(e) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with 
original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within short-term borrowings in current 
liabilities on the statement of financial position.

(f) Trade and Other  Receivables
Trade receivables, which comprise amounts due from the provision of services provided to tenants, are recognised and carried at 
original invoice amount less any allowance for uncollectable amounts.

An allowance for doubtful debts is made when there is objective evidence that the Company will not be able to collect the debts. Bad 
debts which are known to be uncollectable are written off.

(g) Property, Plant and  Equipment
Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses.

Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis less depreciation and impairment losses.
The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date, with the recoverable amount 
being estimated when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The recoverable 
amount of plant and equipment is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Depreciated replacement cost is used 
to determine value in use. Depreciated replacement cost is the current replacement cost of an item of plant and equipment less, 
where applicable, accumulated depreciation to date, calculated on the basis of such cost.

Depreciation
Items of property, plant and equipment and buildings are depreciated over their useful lives to the Company commencing from the time 
the asset is held ready for use. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the expected useful economic lives of the assets as 
follows:

Class of Fixed Asset Useful Life

Leasehold Improvements 2 - 40 years
Computer equipment and software 1 - 5 years
Furniture, fittings and office equipment 4 - 7 years
Motor vehicles 8 years

(h) Investment Property
Investment property is property held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, but not for sale in the 
ordinary course of business, used in the production or supply of goods and services or for  administrative  purposes. Investment 
property is measured at cost on initial recognition and subsequently at fair value with any change recognised through the Profit and 
Loss.



Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment property. The cost of self-constructed 
investment property includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the investment 
property to a working condition for its intended use, and capitalised borrowing costs.
Any gain or loss on disposal of an investment property (calculated as the difference between the net proceeds from disposal and 
the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit and loss. When an investment property that was previously classified as 
property, plant and equipment is sold, any related amount included in the revaluation reserve is transferred to retained earnings.

(i) Intangibles

Software
Software is recognised at cost of acquisition. Software has finite life and is carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and 
any impairment losses. Software is amortised over its useful life which currently spans 1 - 5 years. The current amortisation charges 
for intangible assets are included under depreciation expense per the income statement.

(j) Impairment of Assets
The Company assesses the impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Company that may lead 
to impairment of assets. Where an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. Value-in-use 
calculations performed in assessing recoverable amounts incorporate a number of key estimates. In assessing recoverable 
amount’s the directors have applied the specific sections of the standards applicable to not-for-profit entities in Australia.

(k) Trade and Other  Payables
Trade and other payables represent the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period for goods and services received by 
the company during the reporting period, which remain unpaid. The balance is recognised as a current liability with the amounts 
normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the liability and as a result no Expected Current Loss provision is required.

(l) Borrowings
Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of transaction costs. They are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

(m) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the company has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is 
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.
Provisions are measured using the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period.

(n) Employee Benefits
Provision is made for the company’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees to the end of the 
reporting period. Employee benefits that are expected to be settled within one year have been measured at the amounts expected 
to be paid when the liability is settled. Employee benefits payable later than one year have been measured at the present value of 
the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits. In determining the liability, consideration is given to employee 
wage increases and the probability that the employee may not satisfy vesting requirements.

(o) Monies Held in Trust
The Company provides other corporations with a fee for service property and/or tenancy management service for which a 
management service fee is charged. To the extent that rent is held over at end of the reporting date, it is recorded in the monies 
held in trust liability account in the Capital Statement of Financial Position.

(p) Unspent Capital Grant Funding
The liability for unspent capital grant funding is the unutilised amounts of capital funding received on the condition that specific 
conditions are fulfilled. It is anticipated that the conditions will be fulfilled within twelve months of the end of the reporting period. 
Accordingly, the amounts have not been discounted.

Homes North Annual Report 2018-2019 67



(q) Goods and Services  Tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from 
the Australian Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of 
the expense. Receivables and payables in the Statement of Financial Position are shown inclusive of GST. The net amount of GST recoverable 
from or payable to the Australian Taxation Office is included as part of receivables or payables.
Cash flows are presented in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis, except for the GST component of investing and financing 
activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.

(r) Comparative Figures
Classification of comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in the presentation for the current financial year.

(s) Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, 
contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on 
other various factors, including expectations of future events, management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting 
accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next 
financial year are discussed below.

Estimation of useful lives of assets
The company determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its property, plant and 
equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly as a result of technical innovations or some other event. 
The depreciation and amortisation charge will increase where the useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete 
or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will be written off or written down.

Valuation of Investment Property
The freehold land and buildings were independently valued at 30 June 2019 by the Armidale and Tamworth offices of LMW incorporating 
MVS New England & North West Pty Ltd. The valuations were based on the fair value less cost to sell. The critical assumptions adopted in 
determining the valuations included the location of the land and buildings, the current demand for land and buildings in the area and recent 
sales data for similar properties. The valuation resulted in a revaluation increment of $2,083,964 being recognised in the profit and loss for 
the year ended 30 June 2019.
At 30 June 2019, the directors performed a directors’ valuation on the freehold land and buildings that were not independently valued. The 
directors have reviewed the key assumptions adopted by the valuer in 2019 and believe that changes in each location can be extrapolated 
over the remaining portfolio in that area. On this basis the directors believe the carrying amount of the land and buildings correctly reflects 
the fair value less costs to sell at 30 June 2019.

Impairment of indefinite life intangible assets
The company assesses impairment of indefinite life intangible assets at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the company 
and to the particular asset that may lead to impairment. If an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. 
This involves fair value less costs of disposal or value-in-use calculations, which incorporate a number of key estimates and assumptions.

Employee benefits provision
As discussed in note 1 (n), the liability for employee benefits expected to be settled more than 12 months from the reporting date are 
recognised and measured at the present value of the estimated future cash flows to be made in respect of all employees at the reporting 
date. In determining the present value of the liability, estimates of attrition rates and pay increases through promotion and inflation have been 
taken into account.

(t) New, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted
The company has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are mandatory for the current reporting period. Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations 
that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted. The following Accounting Standards and Interpretations are most relevant to the 
Company:

AASB 9 Financial Instruments
The Company has adopted AASB 9 from 1 July 2018. The standard introduced new classification and measurement models for financial 
assets.
A financial asset shall be measured at amortised cost if it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows which arise on specified dates and that are solely principal and interest. All other financial assets are classified and 
measured at fair value through profit or loss.
The primary impact on the operations of the Company in the year and at balance date is that all tenancy debtors have been valued at fair 
value through application of Expected Credit Loss (ECL) method. This has resulted in the provision for doubtful debts being increased to 
reflect the current net recoverable value of all debtors held at balance date.



The impact of the new Accounting Standard compared to the previous Accounting Standard on the current reporting period is as follows: 

Statement of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive Income New 
$

Previous  
$

Difference 
$

Tenancy and property management expenses (8,927,471) (7,647,775) (1,279,696)

Profit before income tax expenses 735,999 2,015,695 (1,279,696)

Profit after income tax expenses 735,999 2,015,695 (1,279,696)

Statement of Financial Position

CURRENT ASSETS

Trade and other receivables 1,004,197 2,283,894 (1,279,696)

Total Current Assets 3,105,363 4,385,059 (1,279,696)

Non Current Assets

Total Non Current Assets 48,195,848 48,195,848 0

Total Assets 51,301,210 52,580,907 (1,279,696)

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Total Current Liabilities 3,662,802 3,662,802 0

Non Current Liabilities

Total Non Current Liabilities 6,153,742 6,153,742 0

Total Liabilitites 9,816,545 9,816,545 0

NET ASSETS 41,484,666 42,764,362 (1,279,696)

EQUITY

Retained earnings 39,852,491 41,132,187 (1,279,696)

TOTAL EQUITY $     41,484,666 $  42,764,362 (1,279,696)
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Note 2: Revenue 2019
$

2018
$

Rental income:
Capital properties 4,898,128 4,268,607

Company owned properties 385,599 313,027

Housing NSW affordable housing - 365,023

Leasehold properties 2,087,029 1,909,883

NBESP property transfer program   2,029,791  1,913,483 

NBESP property transfer program   2,315,113 - 

Total Rental Income   11,715,660  8,770,023 

Non-Rental income:

Capital grants - (175)

Government funding 1,687,826 1,344,090

Interest income 6,166 5,716

Tenancy management - fee for service 63,666 133,385

Profit/(loss) on sale of fixed assets 11,679 -

Other revenue   981,871  34,327 

Total Non-Rental Income   2,751,208  1,517,343 

Total Revenue $    14,466,868 $    10,287,3665

Note 3: Profit for the Year

(a) Significant  expenses

Audit, Legal and consultancy expenses 79,547 51,623

Depreciation and amortisation expense 248,518 117,652

Doubtful debts movement in provision 1 (t) 1,246,886 475,938

Rental expenses on operating leases 219,117 147,222

Salary and wages 3,392,889 2,749,650

Superannuation 284,765 234,940
   

(b) Realignment of expense categorisation
The allocation of expenses to administration and tenancy and property management expenses has changed in the current year to provide 
more relevant reporting. The changes are not material and the piro year has not been restated in the comparatives to reflect the realignment.

Note 4: Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash on hand 1,570 1,270

Cash at bank   2,082,683   931,767 

$     2,084,253 $    933,037

A floating charge over cash and cash equivalents has been provided for certain debt. Refer 
to Note 11(c) for further detail.

(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash 
flows is reconciled to items in the statement of financial position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents   2,084,253   933,037 

$ 2,084,253 $ 933,037



Note 5: Trade and Other Receivables Note 2019
$

2018
$

CURRENT
Rental and trade receivables 3,084,854 2,844,962

Less: Provision for impairment 1 (t)   (2,618,764)   (1,371,878)

466,090 1,473,084

Deposits 11,693

Loan - Alliance Social Enterprise Ltd 185,000 160,000

Less: Provision for impairment (92,500) 0

Other receivables   445,607   222,983 

$ 1,004,197 $ 1,856,067

Note 6: Other Assets
Prepayments   0   81,437 

Bonds paid on office premises   16,912    

$ 16,912 $ 81,437

Note 7: Property, Plant & Equipment
Leasehold Improvements (at cost) 266,809 240,668

Less: Accumulated depreciation   (94,668)   (67,026)

Total Leasehold Improvements   172,141   173,642 

Plant and Equipment (at cost)

Motor Vehicles 230,971 228,479

Less: Accumulated depreciation   (126,241)   (108,423)

  104,730   120,056 

Office Equipment 658,142 390,706

Less: Accumulated depreciation (398,074)   (291,643)

  260,068   99,063 

Total Plant and Equipment   364,798   219,119 

Total Property, Plant and Equipment $ 536,939 $ 392,761

(a) Movements in carrying amounts

Leasehold 
Improvements

Plant and
Equipment

Total 
$

Balance at the beginning of the year 173,642 219,119 392,761

Additions  
Disposals
Depreciation expense

26,140 
0 

(27,642)

305,708
(35,780)

 (124,249)

331,848
(35,780)

  (151,890)

Carrying amount at the end of the year 172,141 $ 364,798 $ 536,939

(b)  No impairment has been recognised in respect of plant and equipment.
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Note 8: Investment Property Note 2019
$

2018
$

Investment property - restricted 37,006,916 35,305,133

Capital works-in-progress 0 0

Investment property - unrestricted 9,452,549 9,066,380

Total Investment property - unrestricted 9,452,549 9,066,380

Total Investment Property $  46,459,465 $  44,371,513

(a) Movements in carrying amounts
Restricted
Investment 

Property 
$

Unrestricted 
Investment

Property 
$

Total 
$

Balance at the beginning of the year 35,305,133 9,066,380 44,371,513

Additions 0 3,988 3,988

Fair value gain/(loss) on revaluation   1,701,783   382,181   2,083,964

Carrying amount at the end of the year $  37,006,916 $ 9,452,549 $  46,459,465

(b) Asset Revaluations

The company obtains independent valuations of its investment property portfolio on a triennial basis and at the end of each reporting period the 
financial statements reflect the most up to date valuation. The best evidence of fair value is considered to be the current price in an active market 
for similar assets. The following information is used where necessary: current prices in an active market for different types of properties or similar 
property’s in a less active market.

The fair value of investment properties is determined by independent qualified valuers on a triennial basis who have experience in the location 
of the property. On an annual basis the company reviews the valuation reports and extrapolates these valuations across the remaining portfolio 
taking into account fluctuations influenced by location.

As at 30 June 2019 the valuation of the investment property portfolio was performed by the Armidale and Tamworth offices of LMW incorporating 
MVS New England & North West Pty Ltd. The company then performed a valuation on the remaining two thirds of NBESP restricted land and 
buildings. The company has reviewed the key assumptions adopted by the valuers in 2018 and believes that the average increment in each 
location can be applied across the remaining portfolio. This valuation process resulted in a net revaluation increment of $2,083,964 (2018: 
increment $1,125,068) being for the year ended 30 June 2019.

(c)  Properties received under Nation Building Economic Stimulus Plan
Homes North became entitled to 250 dwellings under Stage 2 of the NSW Nation Building Economic Stimulus Plan “NBESP”. The title to 122 
of these units (first instalment) vested to Homes North in April 2011. The second instalment, 128 units vested to Homes North in January 2014. 
Properties vested under the NBESP agreement are determined to be restricted investment properties as Homes North are required to:

- Deliver property and management services to clients eligible for public housing, including people with high-level housing needs; and

- Allocate the accommodation to particular client groups in accordance with specified target quotas; and

- Use the properties to leverage financial resources in partnership with private sector institutions; and

- Use those resources to create additional affordable housing targeted towards low to moderate income households experiencing housing stress.

(d)  Restriction on Assets
All properties received under the NBESP grant are classified as restricted assets because they can only be used for social housing purposes (per 
the tender guidelines of NBESP which governs the use of these properties by social housing providers.). Should these properties be sold proceeds 
from the sale of these properties must be re-invested back into properties used for social housing purposes. To ensure this intention is honoured 
there is a caveat on each of the titles requiring permission from Housing NSW before a sale can take place.

(e)  Repairs and Maintenance Obligations - Impairment
Homes North is required to set aside sufficient resources to meet scheduled repairs and maintenance obligations. Accordingly, $1,500 less 
actual amounts spent, per property is set aside each year and transferred to the planned maintenance reserve. This balance is carried forward 
as a restricted planned maintenance reserve and actual planned maintenance repairs are charged to the profit and Loss. This restricted planned 
maintenance reserve aims to ensure that Homes North has capacity to meet the cost of significant capital upgrades and maintenance when 
required, and maintain buildings at or above the required asset standard.



Note 9: Intangible Assets 2019
$

2018
$

Software (at cost) 1,402,076 171,470

Less: accumulated amortisation (202,632)  (127,104)

$    1,199,444 $     44,366

(a) Movements in carrying amounts
SSoftware

$
Total

$

Balance at the beginning of the year 44,366 44,366

Additions
Disposals
Amortisation expense

1,230,606
-

(75,528)

1,230,606
-

  (75,528)

Carrying amount at the end of the year $    1,199,444 $    1,199,444

Note 10: Trade and Other Payables
CURRENT

Unsecured liabilities;

Trade payables (excl. Property purchase orders) 754,799 295,034

Accrued property purchase orders 663,182

Sundry payables and accrued expenses 197,468 184,799

$    1,615,449 $    479,833

Note 11: Borrowings 2019
$

2018
$

CURRENT

Unsecured liabilities:

Credit cards 17,302 8,861

17,302 8,861

NON-CURRENT

Secured liabilities:

Bank loans 6,000,000 5,000,000

6,000,000 5,000,000

Total Borrowings $   6,017,302 $  5,008,861

(a) Total current and non-current secured liabilities:

Bank loans 6,000,000 5,000,000

6,000,000 5,000,000

(b) The unused portion of approved finance facilities are:
Bank loans 500,000 1,500,000

Credit cards $    7,698 $    16,139

(c) The loan facility is secured by a general fixed and floating charge over the company’s assets and first mortgages over Homes North owned properties.
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Note 12: Employee Benefits 2019
$

2018
$

CURRENT

Provision for employee benefits   582,504   384,012 

$    582,504 $    384,012

NON-CURRENT

Provision for employee benefits   153,742   107,137 

$    153,742 $    107,137

(a)  Aggregate employee benefits liability $    736,246 $    491,149

Provision for employee benefits
A provision has been recognised for employee entitlements relating to annual and long service leave. The current portion for this provision 
includes the total amount accrued for annual leave entitlements and the amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that have vested 
due to employees having completed the required period of service. Based on past experience, the company does not expect the full amount of 
annual leave or long service leave balances classified as current liabilities to be settled within the next 12 months. However, these amounts must 
be classified as current liabilities since the company does not have an unconditional right to defer the settlement of these amounts in the event 
employees wish to use their leave entitlement.

The non-current portion for this provision includes amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that have not yet vested in relation to 
those employees who have not yet completed the required period of service. In calculating the present value of future cash flows in respect of 
long service leave, the probability of long service leave being taken is based upon historical data. The measurement and recognition criteria for 
employee benefits are discussed in Note 1(n).

Note 13: Other Liabilities 2019
$

2018
$

CURRENT

Bonds held 63,267 154,801

Monies held in trust 68,889 113,915

Provision for unclaimed monies 2,270 2,542

Tenant rent in advance 469,478 372,054

Unspent capital grant funding   843,644   319,051 

$    1,447,548 $    962,363

Note 14: Reserves

Planned Maintenance Reserve
The Company carries a planned maintenance reserve to meet the planned maintenance obligations of the managed properties. As at 30 June 
2019, the Company managed 752 Non-SHMT capital properties (2018: 752) and had reserved $1,632,175 (2018: $1,280,950) to meet these 
obligations.

Note 15: Capital and Leasing Commitments 2019
$

2018
$

(a) Operating Lease Commitments
Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not capitalised in the financial statements.

Payable - minimum lease payments:

- not later than 12 months 350,054 167,479

- between 12 months and five years   1,019,561   128,907 

$    1,369,615 $    296,386

The property lease commitments are non-cancellable operating leases on 5 offices contracted for but not capitalised in the financial statements, 
with increases in rent either in line with the Consumer Price Index or 4% whichever is greater.



(b) Capital Expenditure Commitments

None in current or prior year

Note 16: Contingent Liabilities
As at 30 June 2019 $0 have been accrued as contingent in the accounts to contractors for work to be completed after 30 June 
(2018: $545,000). All confirmed and validated purchase orders have been accrued at year end as actual liabilities.

Note 17: Economic Dependency
The Company is economically dependent upon ongoing long term contracts with, and minor grant funding from, the NSW State 
Government. Should this funding or contracts be withdrawn the Company may not be able to continue all of the projects currently 
in operation.

Note 18: Financial Risk Management 2019
$

2018
$

The company’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, short-term investments, 
accounts receivable and payable and leases.

The totals for each category of financial instruments measured in accordance with AASB 139 
as detailed in the accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows:
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4 2,084,253 1,577,905

Loans and receivables 5   1,004,197   914,284 

$    3,088,450 $    2,800,797

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:

Trade and other payables 10 1,615,449 479,833

Borrowings 11   6,017,302   5,008,861 

$    7,632,751 $    5,488,694

Note 19: Fair Value Measurements
The company has the following assets, as set out in the table below, that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis after their initial 
recognition. The company does not subsequently measure any liabilities at fair value on a recurring basis and has no assets or liabilities that are 
measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis.

The table below details the company’s assets and liabilities, measured or disclosed at fair value, using a three level hierarchy,
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the company can access at the measurement date.
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Level 1
$

Level 2
$

Investment property - restricted 37,006,916

Investment property - unrestricted   9,452,549   

Investment property - unrestricted $   9,452,549 $    37,006,916

 
Investment property - restricted, fair values are determined by independent qualified valuers on a triennial basis who have experience in the location 
of the property. On an annual basis the directors review the valuation reports and apply these valuations across the remaining portfolio taking into 
account fluctuations influenced by location. Any properties purchased during the financial year are independently valued at the end of that financial 
year.

Level 1
$

Level 2
$

Level 1
$

Homes North Annual Report 2018-2019 75



Note 20: Related Party Transactions
Key Management Personnel

The totals of remuneration paid to key management personnel (KMP) during the year are as follows:

Key management personnel  compensation $    798,917 $    643,226

$    798,917 $    643,226

  

Other Related Parties 
Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those available
to other parties unless otherwise stated. There are no identified transactions with other related parties.

Note 21: Company Details

The Company is incorporated and domiciled in Australia as a company limited by guarantee. The registered office and principal place of business is:
Homes North Community Housing Company Ltd 
17/93 Faulkner Street
ARMIDALE NSW 2350

DIRECTORS’  DECLARATION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

The directors of the company declare that:

1. the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012, the 
Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements, the Australian Charities and Not-for- Profits Commission 
Regulations 2013 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements;

2. the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 30 June 2019 
and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

3. there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and 
payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors by:

Jane Michie - Chairperson Rex Gream - Director
Dated: 20 November 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF 

HOMES NORTH COMMUNITY HOUSING COMPANY LTD 

ABN 78 014 531 758  
Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Homes North Community Housing Company Ltd (the Company), which 
comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017, the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and directors 
declaration.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Company is in accordance with the Australian Charities 
and Not-For-Profits Commission Act 2012, including:  

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Companyʼs financial position as at 30 June 2017 and of its financial 
performance for the year then ended; and  

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards to the extent described in Note 1 and the Australian 
Charities and Not-For-Profits Commission Act 2012.  

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditorʼs Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our 
report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 
Australian Charities and Not-For-Profits Commission Act 2012 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Boardʼs APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.  

Other Information 

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the Companyʼs annual report for the year ended 30 June 2017, but does not include the financial report and our 
auditorʼs report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF 

HOMES NORTH COMMUNITY HOUSING COMPANY LTD 

ABN 78 014 531 758  

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report  

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial report and have determined that the basis of 
preparation described in Note 1 to the financial report is appropriate to meet the needs of the members and the 
Australian Charities and Not-For-Profits Commission Act 2012 and for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Company to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.  

Auditorʼs Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditorʼs report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_files/ar3.pdf. This description forms 
part of our auditorʼs report.  

CROWE HORWATH CENTRAL NORTH 

Kylie Ellis 
Audit Partner 
Registered Company Auditor (ASIC RAN 483424) 
90 Rusden Street 
ARMIDALE NSW 2350 

Dated: 8 November 2017 
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